
 
 

 
CYNGOR BWRDEISTREF SIROL 

RHONDDA CYNON TAF 
COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
GWŶS I GYFARFOD PWYLLGOR 
 
C Hanagan 
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu  
Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf 
2 Llys Cadwyn 
Stryd Taf 
Pontypridd, CF37 4TH 
 
Dolen gyswllt: Jess Daniel - Gwasanaethau Democrataidd ac Ymgysylltu  (07385401877)  
 
Bydd cyfarfod hybrid o'r  Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Datblygu yn cael ei gynnal ar DYDD IAU, 
21AIN MAWRTH, 2024 am 3.00 PM. 
 
Bwriedir i’r cyfarfod yma gael ei weddarlledu’n fyw, mae rhagor o fanylion am hyn yma 

 
 
MAE MODD I AELODAU NAD YDYN NHW’N AELODAU O’R PWYLLGOR AC AELODAU 
O'R CYHOEDD OFYN I ANNERCH Y PWYLLGOR YN YSTOD Y CYFARFOD SY'N 
YMWNEUD Â'R MATER SYDD WEDI'I NODI. RYDYN NI'N GOFYN EICH BOD CHI'N RHOI 
GWYBOD AM EICH BWRIAD I SIARAD DRWY E-BOSTIO 
GWASANAETHAUCYNLLUNIO@RCTCBC.GOV.UK ERBYN 5PM AR DYDD MAWRTH, 
19 MAWRTH 2024, GAN NODI A FYDDWCH CHI'N SIARAD YN GYMRAEG NEU'N 
SAESNEG.  
 
MAE'N BOSIB BYDD TREFN YR AGENDA'N NEWID ER MWYN HWYLUSO BUSNES Y 
PWYLLGOR. 

 
AGENDA Tudalennau 

  
1. DATGAN BUDDIANT   
 Derbyn datganiadau o fuddiannau personol gan Aelodau yn unol â'r 

Cod Ymddygiad. 
  
Nodwch: 

1.     Mae gofyn i Aelodau ddatgan rhif a phwnc yr agendwm mae eu 
buddiant yn ymwneud ag ef a mynegi natur y buddiant personol 
hwnnw; a 

2.     Lle bo Aelodau'n ymneilltuo o'r cyfarfod o ganlyniad i ddatgelu 
buddiant sy'n rhagfarnu, mae rhaid iddyn nhw roi gwybod i'r 
Cadeirydd pan fyddan nhw'n gadael. 

  

 

https://rctcbc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/CY/Council/CouncillorsCommitteesandMeetings/Committees/PublicSpeakingatPlanningDevelopmentCommitteeMeetings.aspx
mailto:Planningservices@rhondda-cynon-taff.gov.uk


    
2. DEDDF HAWLIAU DYNOL 1998 A PHENDERFYNIADAU RHEOLI 

DATBLYGU  
 

 Nodi y dylai Aelodau o'r Pwyllgor, wrth benderfynu materion rheoli 
datblygu ger eu bron, roi sylw i'r Cynllun Datblygu ac, i'r graddau y bo 
hynny yn berthnasol, i unrhyw ystyriaethau perthnasol eraill. Rhaid i 
Aelodau, wrth ddod i benderfyniadau, sicrhau nad ydyn nhw'n 
gweithredu mewn modd sy'n anghyson â'r Confensiwn ar Hawliau 
Dynol fel y'i hymgorfforwyd mewn deddfwriaeth gan Ddeddf Hawliau 
Dynol 1998. 
  
  

 

    
3. DEDDF LLESIANT CENEDLAETHAU'R DYFODOL (CYMRU) 2015   
 Nodi bod Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau’r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015 yn 

gosod dyletswydd ar gyrff cyhoeddus i gynnal datblygiadau cynaliadwy 
yn unol â'r egwyddor datblygu cynaliadwy, ac i weithredu mewn modd 
sy'n anelu at sicrhau y caiff anghenion y presennol eu diwallu heb 
amharu ar allu cenedlaethau'r dyfodol i ddiwallu eu hanghenion 
hwythau. 

 

    
4. COFNODION   
 Cadarnhau cofnodion o gyfarfod y Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Datblygu a 

gynhaliwyd ar 22.02.24 yn rhai cywir. 
  

 

  5 - 8  
CEISIADAU A ARGYMHELLIR AR GYFER EU CYMERADWYO GAN Y 
CYFARWYDDWR MATERION FFYNIANT A DATBLYGU  

 

    
5. CAIS RHIF:   
 Adeiladu 14 annedd fforddiadwy gyda system ddraenio gynaliadwy, 

mannau parcio a gwaith cysylltiedig. (Derbyniwyd cynllun diwygiedig y 
safle, cynigion tirlunio meddal, Manyleb Tirlunio a Chynllun Rheoli, 
Datganiad Isadeiledd Gwyrdd, Cynllun Rheoli Cynefin a Strategaeth 
Digolledu Rhywogaethau ar 22 Chwefror 2024) 
SAFLE HEN YSGOL FABANOD RHIW-GARN, 
WAUN WEN, TREBANOG, PORTH, CF39 9LX 
  

 

  9 - 26  
6. CAIS RHIF: 23/1294   
 Newid defnydd yn rhannol o swyddfeydd (dosbarth defnydd B1) i 

gampfa (dosbarth defnydd D2) 
TŶ FAIRLEAP, HEOL ABERHONDDU, HIRWAUN, ABERDÂR, CF44 
9NS 
  

 



  27 - 38  
7. CAIS RHIF: 23/1444   
 Dymchwel adeiladau presennol, bwriad i adeiladu 4 annedd breswyl a 4 

fflat, gwaith tirlunio, lliniaru clwydo ystlumod, storfa finiau, storfa feiciau 
a gwaith cysylltiedig 
YR HEN YSGOL, FFORDD MERTHYR, LLWYDCOED, ABERDÂR, 
CF44 0UT 
  

 

  39 - 64  
8. CAIS RHIF: 24/0017   
 Estyniad unllawr a deulawr 

20 HEOL Y PINWYDD, GLYNFACH, PORTH, CF39 9NL 
 

  65 - 72  
ADRODDIAD ER GWYBODAETH   
    
9. GWYBODAETH I AELODAU SY'N YMWNEUD Â'R CAMAU 

GWEITHREDU WEDI'U CYMRYD O DAN BWERAU DIRPRWYEDIG  
 

 Rhoi gwybod i Aelodau am y canlynol, ar gyfer y cyfnod 26/02/2024 –
08/03/2024 
  
Penderfyniadau Cynllunio a Gorfodi – Apeliadau a Dderbyniwyd.  
Penderfyniadau Dirprwyedig – Ceisiadau wedi'u Cymeradwyo a'u 
Gwrthod gyda Rhesymau. 
Trosolwg o Achosion Gorfodi. 
Penderfyniadau Gorfodi Dirprwyedig. 

 

  73 - 82  
10. MATERION BRYS   
 Trafod unrhyw faterion sydd, yn ôl doethineb y Cadeirydd, yn faterion 

brys yng ngoleuni amgylchiadau arbennig. 
 

   
Cyfarwyddwr Gwasanaeth y Gwasanaethau Democrataidd a Chyfathrebu 
Cylchrediad: - 
Aelodau o’r Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Datblygu: 
 
Cadeirydd ac Is-gadeirydd y Pwyllgor Materion Rheoli Datblygu 
(Y Cynghorydd S Rees a Y Cynghorydd W Lewis) 
 
Y Cynghorydd J Bonetto, Y Cynghorydd A Dennis, Y Cynghorydd S Emanuel, 
Y Cynghorydd D Grehan, Y Cynghorydd G Hughes, Y Cynghorydd M Powell, 
Y Cynghorydd J Smith, Y Cynghorydd L A Tomkinson and Y Cynghorydd R Williams 
Pennaeth Cynllunio 
Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol 
Pennaeth Datblygu Mawr a Buddsoddi 
Uwch Beiriannydd 
 



tudalen wag



 
 
 

 

 
PWYLLGOR CABINET CYNGOR RHONDDA CYNON TAF 

 PWYLLGOR CYNLLUNIO A DATBLYGU 
Cofnodion o gyfarfod hybrid y Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Datblygu a gynhaliwyd   Dydd Iau, 22 

Chwefror 2024 am 3.00 pm  
 

Cafodd y cyfarfod yma ei ddarlledu’n fyw, ac mae modd gweld y manylion yma 
 

Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol - Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Datblygu Aelodau oedd yn 
bresennol: - 

 
Y Cynghorydd W Lewis (Cadeirydd) 

 
Y Cynghorydd D Grehan Y Cynghorydd G Hughes 

Y Cynghorydd J Smith Y Cynghorydd L A Tomkinson 
Y Cynghorydd R Williams  

 
Roedd y Aelodau Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Datblygu canlynol yn bresennol ar-lein:- 

 
Y Cynghorydd J Bonetto Y Cynghorydd A Dennis 

 
Swyddogion oedd yn bresennol: - 

 
Mr J Bailey, Pennaeth Cynllunio 

Mr S Humphreys, Pennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol 
Mr C Jones, Pennaeth Datblygu Mawr a Buddsoddi 

 
Y Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref Sirol eraill oedd yn bresennol: - 

 
Y Cynghorydd  M Norris Y Cynghorydd J Cook 
Y Cynghorydd R Davis Y Cynghorydd S Evans 

 
  

204   CROESO AC YMDDIHEURIADAU  
 

 

 Daeth ymddiheuriad am golli'r cyfarfod oddi wrth Gynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol 
S Emanuel, S Rees a M Powell.  
  
 

 

 
205   DATGAN BUDDIANT  

 
 

 Yn unol â Chod Ymddygiad y Cyngor, ni wnaethpwyd unrhyw ddatganiadau 
mewn perthynas â'r Agenda. 
  
  
 

 

 
206   DEDDF HAWLIAU DYNOL 1998 A PHENDERFYNIADAU RHEOLI 

DATBLYGU  
 

 

 PENDERFYNWYD nodi y dylai Aelodau o'r Pwyllgor, wrth benderfynu 
materion rheoli datblygu ger eu bron, roi sylw i'r Cynllun Datblygu ac, i'r 
graddau y bo hynny yn berthnasol, i unrhyw ystyriaethau perthnasol 

 

Tudalen 5

Agendwm 4

https://rctcbc.public-i.tv/core/portal/home


 

eraill. Rhaid i Aelodau, wrth ddod i benderfyniadau, sicrhau nad ydyn 
nhw'n gweithredu mewn modd sy'n anghyson â'r Confensiwn 
Ewropeaidd ar Hawliau Dynol fel y'i hymgorfforwyd mewn deddfwriaeth 
gan Ddeddf Hawliau Dynol 1998. 
  
  
  

207   DEDDF LLESIANT CENEDLAETHAU'R DYFODOL (CYMRU) 2015  
 

 

 PENDERFYNWYD nodi bod Deddf Llesiant Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol 
(Cymru) 2015 yn gosod dyletswydd ar gyrff cyhoeddus i gynnal 
datblygiadau cynaliadwy yn unol â'r egwyddor datblygu cynaliadwy, ac i 
weithredu mewn modd sy'n anelu at sicrhau y caiff anghenion y 
presennol eu diwallu heb amharu ar allu cenedlaethau'r dyfodol i 
ddiwallu eu hanghenion hwythau. 
  
  
 

 

 
208   COFNODION  

 
 

 PENDERFYNWYD cadarnhau'r cofnodion o gyfarfod y Pwyllgor Cynllunio a 
Datblygu a gynhaliwyd ar 25.01.24 yn rhai cywir.  
  
 

 

 
209   NEWID I DREFN YR AGENDA  

 
 

 Cytunodd y Pwyllgor y byddai'r agenda yn cael ei thrafod mewn trefn wahanol yn 
unol â'r manylion yn y cofnodion isod. 
  
 

 

 
210   CAIS RHIF: 23/0404  

 
 

 Newid defnydd garej i salon trin gwallt. 34 STRYD DAVIS, ABERAMAN, 
ABERDÂR, CF44 6UR 

Siaradodd yr Aelod Lleol, Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol S Evans, nad 
yw'n aelod o'r Pwyllgor, am y cais gan fynegi ei phryderon ynglŷn â'r 
cais. 
Cyflwynodd y Pennaeth Materion Cynllunio y cais i'r Pwyllgor. Ar ôl trafod y cais, 
PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo'r cais yn unol ag argymhelliad y Cyfarwyddwr - 
Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu. 
 

 

 
211   CAIS RHIF: 23/1335  

 
 

 Tystysgrif Cyfreithlondeb ar gyfer newid defnydd arfaethedig  o annedd 
C3(a) i Gartref Preswyl i Blant C2 ar gyfer hyd at 2 o blant. 134 HEOL 
TURBERVILLE, PORTH, CF39 0ND 

Siaradodd yr Aelod Lleol, Cynghorydd y Fwrdeistref Sirol R Davis, nad 
yw'n aelod o'r Pwyllgor, am y cais gan fynegi ei gwrthwynebiad a'i 
phryderon ynglŷn â'r dystysgrif cyfreithlondeb arfaethedig. 

 

Tudalen 6



 

Cyflwynodd y Pennaeth Datblygu Mawr a Buddsoddi y cais i'r Pwyllgor 
ac yn dilyn trafodaeth, penderfynodd Aelodau wrthod cymeradwyo'r 
dystysgrif cyfreithlondeb a hynny gan fod Aelodau o'r farn y byddai'r 
newid arfaethedig yn cyfrif fel newid defnydd sylweddol gan y bydd yn 
gweithredu fel busnes 24 awr y dydd yn hytrach na chartref, gyda staff 
yn gweithio sifftiau yn yr eiddo. 

O ganlyniad i hynny, cafodd y mater ei ohirio tan y cyfarfod priodol nesaf 
o'r Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Datblygu fel bod modd derbyn adroddiad gan 
Gyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu, a gaiff ei lunio drwy 
ymgynghori â Chyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol yn ôl yr angen. 
Bydd yr adroddiad yn tynnu sylw at y cryfderau a'r gwendidau posibl 
sydd ynghlwm â dod i benderfyniad sy’n mynd yn groes i argymhelliad 
Swyddog, neu unrhyw reswm dros ddod i benderfyniad o'r fath ar sail 
cynllun arfaethedig neu gynllun posibl. 
  
  
  

212   CAIS RHIF: 23/0549  
 

 

 Gosod pont newydd. (Derbyniwyd Adroddiad Dyfrgwn ar 20/07/23) 
(Derbyniwyd Asesiad Ecolegol Rhagarweiniol newydd, Arolygon Ystlumod, 
Arolwg Rhywogaethau Goresgynnol, Asesiad Coed Lefel y Tir 
Rhagarweiniol ac Asesiad o'r Effaith ar Goedyddiaeth ar 24/01/24) PONT Y 
BIBELL GLUDO ODDI AR Y DRAMFFORDD, TREHARRIS, CF46 5EF 
  
Amlinellodd y Pennaeth Materion Cynllunio gynnwys llythyr 'hwyr' a dderbyniwyd 
oddi wrth Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful sy’n nodi nad oes unrhyw 
bryderon ynglŷn â'r cais.  
  
Cyflwynodd y Pennaeth Materion Cynllunio'r cais i'r Pwyllgor. Ar ôl trafod y cais, 
PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo'r cais yn unol ag argymhelliad y Cyfarwyddwr 
Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu. 
  
  
 

 

 
213   CAIS RHIF: 23/1019  

 
 

 Datblygu adeilad rhestredig yn 5 annedd breswyl. HEN STABLAU, HEOL 
TŶ ABERAMAN, ABERAMAN, ABERDÂR 
  
Cyflwynodd y Pennaeth Materion Cynllunio / Pennaeth Datblygu Mawr a 
Buddsoddi'r cais i'r Pwyllgor, ac yn dilyn trafodaeth PENDERFYNWYD y 
byddai'r penderfyniad mewn perthynas â'r cais yn cael ei ohirio a bydd yn cael ei 
drafod yn un o gyfarfodydd y Pwyllgor Cynllunio a Datblygu yn y dyfodol, a 
hynny er mwyn rhoi cyfle i Swyddogion ddarparu rhagor o wybodaeth.  
  
 

 

 
214   CAIS RHIF: 23/1281  

 
 

 Estyniad llawr cyntaf i greu swyddfa ychwanegol (Derbyniwyd cynlluniau 
diwygiedig ar 14/12/2023). SBM CAR SALES, YR HEOL FAWR, TON-TEG, 
PONTYPRIDD, CF38 1PW 

 

Tudalen 7



 

  
Cyflwynodd y Pennaeth Datblygu Mawr a Buddsoddi'r cais i'r Pwyllgor. Yn dilyn 
trafodaeth, PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo'r cais yn unol ag argymhelliad y 
Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu. 
  
  
  

215   CAIS RHIF: 24/0073  
 

 

 Paneli solar ar do adeilad pad sblasio. PARC ABERDÂR, HEOL GLAN, 
GADLYS, ABERDÂR 
  
Cyflwynodd y Pennaeth Datblygu Mawr a Buddsoddi'r cais i'r Pwyllgor. Yn dilyn 
trafodaeth, PENDERFYNWYD cymeradwyo'r cais yn unol ag argymhelliad y 
Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu. 
  
  
 

 

 
216   CAIS RHIF: 23/0679  

 
 

 Newid defnydd o lety gwely a brecwast i Dŷ Amlfeddiannaeth (HMO) ag 11 
ystafell wely (Derbyniwyd cynlluniau diwygiedig ar 01/12/2023) Tŷ Llety 
Central House, Bryn Stow, Trefforest, Pontypridd, CF37 1RZ 
  
Cyflwynodd y Pennaeth Materion Cynllunio'r cais a gafodd ei gyflwyno'n 
wreiddiol i'r Pwyllgor ar 25 Ionawr 2024, pan wrthododd yr Aelodau'r cais yn 
groes i argymhelliad y Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a Datblygu.  

Trafododd yr Aelodau'r adroddiad pellach, a oedd yn tynnu sylw at 
gryfderau a gwendidau posibl cymeradwyo'r cais yn groes i argymhelliad 
Swyddogion. Yn dilyn trafodaeth, PENDERFYNWYD gwrthod y cais, a 
hynny'n groes i argymhelliad y Cyfarwyddwr Materion Ffyniant a 
Datblygu, oherwydd y rhesymau sydd wedi'u nodi yn yr adroddiad 
pellach.  
  
  
 

 

 
217   GWYBODAETH I AELODAU SY'N YMWNEUD Â'R CAMAU GWEITHREDU 

WEDI'U CYMRYD O DAN BWERAU DIRPRWYEDIG  
 

 

 PENDERFYNODD yr Aelodau dderbyn adroddiad Cyfarwyddwr y Gwasanaeth 
Materion Cynllunio mewn perthynas â'r Penderfyniadau Cynllunio a Gorfodi – 
Apeliadau a Dderbyniwyd, Penderfyniadau Dirprwyedig – Ceisiadau wedi'u 
cymeradwyo a'u gwrthod gyda rhesymau, Trosolwg o Achosion Gorfodi a 
Phenderfyniadau Gorfodi Dirprwyedig ar gyfer y cyfnod rhwng 29/01/2024 – 
09/02/2024. 
  
  
 

 

 
 

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 4.00 pm Y Cynghorydd W Lewis 
Cadeirydd. 

 

Tudalen 8



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

21 March 2024 
 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
Members are asked to determine the planning application outlined below: 

APPLICATION NO: 23/1194/10             (GH) 
APPLICANT: RHA Wales 
DEVELOPMENT: Proposed development of 14 affordable dwellings, 

sustainable drainage, parking and associated 
works.(Revised site layout, soft landscaping proposals, 
Landscape Specification & Management Plan, Green 
Infrastructure Statement, Habitat Management Plan and 
Species Mitigation Strategy received 22nd February 
2024) 

LOCATION: SITE OF FORMER RHIWGARN COUNTY INFANTS 
SCHOOL, WAUN WEN, TREBANOG, PORTH, CF39 
9LX 

DATE REGISTERED: 22/02/2024 
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Cymer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS BELOW AND A 
SECTION 106 AGREEMENT 
 
REASONS: The development would make use of brownfield land at a 
sustainable location and within settlement limits. 
 
The scale, design and layout of the development would be appropriate to the 
setting, would support the provision of new housing to meet local needs and, 
being located in a residential area, would be a sympathetic neighbouring land 
use. 
 
No detriment to highway safety has been identified and the development has 
evidenced that it would be capable of delivering a biodiversity net benefit.  
 
Therefore, the application has demonstrated compliance with Planning Policy 
Wales 12 and the Local Development Plan. 
 
REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE  
 
The proposal is not covered by determination powers delegated to the Director of 
Prosperity & Development. 

 
APPLICATION DETAILS 
 

Tudalen 9

Agendwm 5



Full planning consent is sought for the construction of fourteen dwellings on the site of 
the former Rhiwgarn Infant’s School at Waun Wen, Trebanog. 
 
The affordable housing development would provide the following accommodation: 
 

• 2 x one-bed apartments (59.0 sqm) 
• 4 x one-bed houses (59.2 sqm) 
• 6 x two-bed houses Type 1 (88.7 sqm) 
• 1 x two-bed house Type 2a (84.9 sqm) 
• 1 x two-bed house Type 2b (84.9 sqm) 

 
Each property would be provided with amenity space, either in the form of an enclosed 
garden or a terrace, together with storage and/or space for household waste and 
recycling. 
 
The site would be accessed from Waun Wen to the east, with the dwellings arranged 
around the vehicular access and turning head within which fifteen parking spaces and 
soft landscaping would be laid out. 
 
Due to the considerable fall in level to the west of the site, this area would remain 
undeveloped and maintained as a green landscape. For the benefit of residents, the 
area would be accessible by a series of steps and also accommodate a shallow-sided 
SuDS basin. 
 
In addition to the plans and elevation drawings accompanying the application, the 
following supporting documents have been submitted: 
 

• Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) 
• Site Investigation Report 
• Landscape Specification and Management Plan 
• Design and Access Statement 
• Travel Plan 
• Transport Statement 
• Pre-Application Consultation (PAC) Report 
• Green Infrastructure Statement 
• Habitat Management Plan 
• Species Mitigation Strategy 

 
SITE APPRAISAL 
 
The application site, which incorporates a surface area of around 0.59 hectares 
formerly accommodated Rhiwgarn Infants School. These comprised low level 
buildings of a 1950s/60s design together with associated parking play areas, and 
green space. 
 
The site has since been cleared and on its eastern side now comprises areas of 
hardstanding and slab where the buildings once stood. This part of the site is roughly 
level with the adopted highway Waun Wen and nearby housing, from where pedestrian 
and vehicular access was gained. 

Tudalen 10



 
Conversely, the western half of the site has not been previously developed, probably 
due to the very steep westerly fall down towards the dwellings which located on the 
A4233 Trebanog Road. This land is covered with dense scrub and a number of trees. 
 
This site is both within the defined settlement boundary and part of a Registered 
Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest in Wales. A small part of the site also falls 
within land designated as development high risk due to coal mining legacy, and 
includes areas identified as having the potential for contamination. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The most recent or relevant applications on record associated with this site are: 
 
22/5079/41: Pre-application advice. Decision: 30/08/2022, Raise No Objection. 
 
22/0351/23: Prior notification of demolition of former school buildings. Decision: 

14/04/2022, Grant. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
The application has been advertised by direct notification to thirty-one neighbouring 
properties and notices were displayed on site. 
 
Furthermore, in accordance with the Development Management Procedure Order 
(Wales) the relevant press notice was published on 31st October 2023 identifying that 
the proposal constitutes Major Development. 
 
No letters of objection or representation have been received. 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Highways and Transportation 
 
No objection, subject to conditions relating to engineering design and a construction 
method statement. 
 
Flood Risk Management 
 
No objection. 
 
Public Health and Protection 
 
No objection. Conditions are recommended in respect of noise, dust, waste and 
lighting. However, these matters can either be dealt with under the scope of existing 
public health legislation or the Construction Method Statement sought by a separate 
condition. 
 
Due to previous land uses Public Health and Protection has recommended a condition 
requiring the undertaking of a site investigation for contamination. 

Tudalen 11



 
Natural Resources Wales 
 
No objection, subject to a condition for a CEMP. 
 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water 
 
No objection, subject to a condition regarding foul water and an informative note. 
 
National Grid 
 
A new connection or service alteration will require a separate application to the 
National Grid. 
 
South Wales Fire and Rescue Service 
 
No objection, noting the developer should also consider the need for the provision of 
adequate water supplies on the site for firefighting purposes and access for 
emergency firefighting appliances. 
 
Countryside Section – Ecologist 
 
No objection, subject to a condition to ensure compliance with the submitted species 
and habitat plans and to ensure that neither Prunus Laurocerasus or Alnus Cordata 
are used as part of the soft landscaping scheme. 
 
The Coal Authority 
 
The Coal Authority’s Planning & Development Team notes the recommendations of 
the Site Investigation Report; that further investigations into possible shallow coal 
mining legacy are required, along with possible remedial measures, in order to ensure 
the safety and stability of the proposed development. 
 
South Wales Police 
 
South Wales Police has been included in the design of this development since the 
concept stage. A number of discussions were held and changes made and it can be 
confirmed that the submitted planning application meets the relevant Secured By 
Design standards. 
 
Housing Strategy Team 
 
The unit mix and tenure proposed are in accord with the Local Housing Market 
Assessment 2022/37, and this proposal satisfies Policy NSA11 of the adopted Local 
Development Plan. 
 
No other consultation responses have been received within the statutory period. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 

Tudalen 12



Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan 
 
Members will be aware that the current LDP’s lifespan was 2011 to 2021 and that it is 
in the process of being reviewed. The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 introduced 
provisions specifying the period to which a plan has effect and providing that it shall 
cease to be the LDP at the end of the specified period. These provisions were 
commenced on 4th January 2016 but do not have retrospective effect. Therefore, the 
provisions do not apply to LDPs adopted prior to this date and plans adopted before 
4th January 2016 will remain the LDP for determining planning applications until 
replaced by a further LDP. This was clarified in guidance published by the Minister on 
24th September 2020. Subsequently, Members are advised that the existing Plan 
remains the development plan for consideration when determining this planning 
application. 
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary for Trebanog 
 
Policy CS1 - Development in the North: sets out the strategy approach for the 
Northern Strategy Area of the County Borough. The focus of the strategy seeks to 
build strong, sustainable communities, including the provision of high quality affordable 
homes and the re-use of previously developed sites. 
Policy CS4 - Housing requirements: sets out the housing requirement figure for the 
plan period in sustainable locations, to include a combination of brownfield and 
greenfield sites. 
Policy CS5 - Affordable housing: identifies that there is a need to provide 1770 
affordable housing units over the plan period. 
Policy AW1 - Sets out how the housing requirement figure will be met during the plan 
period. This will include the development of unallocated land within the settlement 
boundaries of smaller settlements and via the provision of affordable housing. 
Policy AW2 - Seeks to ensure that development is in sustainable locations. The policy 
sets out criteria which defines these locations, these include but are not limited to the 
following: 

• Are within the defined settlement boundary. 
• Would not unacceptably conflict with surrounding uses. 
• Have good accessibility by a range of transport options. 
• Have good access to key services and facilities. 
• Support the roles and functions of the Principal towns and key settlements and 

smaller settlements. 
Policy AW4 - Notes that planning obligations may be sought to make development 
proposals acceptable in land use terms. 
Policy AW5 - Identifies the appropriate amenity and accessibility criteria for new 
development proposals; it expressly states that the scale, form and design of the 
development would have no unacceptable effect on the character and appearance of 
the site and the surrounding area.  There should also be no significant impact upon 
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers and should, where appropriate, retain existing 
features of natural environmental value.  Additionally, the development would require 
safe access to the highway network and provide parking in accordance with the 
Council’s SPG. 
Policy AW6 - Supports development proposals that are of a high standard of design 
that reinforce attractive qualities and local distinctiveness. Furthermore, proposals 

Tudalen 13



must be designed to protect and enhance landscape and biodiversity by providing 
measures for mitigation and enhancement, where appropriate. 
Policy AW8 - Seeks to protect the natural environment from inappropriate 
development and that there would be no unacceptable impact upon the features of 
importance to landscape or nature conservation. Development proposals must be 
accompanied by appropriate ecological surveys and should demonstrate a net 
biodiversity gain. 
Policy AW10 - Aims to prevent development which could cause or result in a risk of 
unacceptable harm to health or local amenity due to land instability, flooding, pollution, 
or any other identified risk to local amenity and public health; unless it can be 
demonstrated that such risks can be overcome. 
Policy NSA10 - Housing density: permits proposals with the net residential density is 
a minimum of 30 dwellings per hectare but recognises that this may vary depending 
on the characteristics and specific context of a site. 
Policy NSA11 - Affordable housing: seeks the provision of at least 10% affordable 
housing on sites of 10 units or more, which might include on or off-site provision, or a 
financial contribution. 
Policy NSA12 - Requires housing development within the settlement boundary to be 
accessible to local services by a range of sustainable transport modes without 
adversely affecting the highway network or provision of car parking in the surrounding 
area. Any contamination or land stability issues must be remedied and developments 
should not adversely affect the provision of public open space. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
• Design and Place-making 
• Access, Circulation and Parking Requirements 
• Affordable Housing 
• Planning Obligations 
• Nature Conservation 
• Development of Flats 
 
National Guidance 
 
In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics.  
 
Planning Policy Wales Edition 12 (PPW) was issued on 7th February 2024 in 
conjunction with Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (FW2040). PPW incorporates 
the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act into town and 
country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) policy on planning issues 
relevant to the determination of all planning applications. FW2040 sets out the National 
Development Framework for Wales (NDF), WG’s current position on planning policy 
at regional and national level. 
 
It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the key principles 
and requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 

Tudalen 14



its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments. 
 
It is also considered the proposed development is compliant with the NDF, with the 
following policies being relevant to the development proposed: 
 

• Policy 1 – Where Wales will grow – Employment / Housing / Infrastructure 
• Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth – Sustainability / Placemaking 

 
SE Wales Policies 
 

• Policy 33 – National Growth Areas Cardiff Newport & the Valleys – 
SDP/LDP/large schemes. 

 
Other relevant national policy guidance consulted: 
 
PPW Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and Affordable Housing. 
PPW Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning. 
PPW Technical Advice Note 12: Design. 
PPW Technical Advice Note 18: Transport. 
 
Manual for Streets 
 
REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 
be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Furthermore, applications that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan 
should not be allowed, unless material considerations justify the grant of planning 
permission.  
 
Main Issues: 
 
Principle of the proposed development 
 
The application site is located in the Northern Strategy Area, on land at the former 
Rhiwgarn Infants School, Waun Wen. The proposed development is for 100% 
affordable housing. The site is within the defined settlement boundary in accordance 
with LDP Policy NSA12. 
 
Policy CS1 promotes the reuse of under used and previously developed land and 
buildings and the proposal also complies with national guidance, which promotes the 
redevelopment of previously used land in preference to Greenfield sites. 
 
Likewise, the development of unallocated sites within the defined settlement boundary 
is supported by Policies AW1 and AW2, the former recognising that the delivery of 
new housing will be met, in part, by the development of windfall sites. 

Tudalen 15



 
The minimum net residential density permitted by Policy NSA10 is 30 dwellings per 
hectare. The site is approximately 0.59 hectares, resulting in a net residential density 
of approximately 24 dwellings per hectare. Although this falls below the threshold set 
out by the policy, this is understandable, given that the western part of the site is 
constrained and not practically developable. 
 
Since all of the dwellings would meet the definition of affordable homes, the minimum 
provision of 10% affordable housing required in order to comply with Policy NSA11 
would easily be exceeded. The Council’s Housing Strategy team has advised that the 
unit mix and tenure proposed are in accordance with the Local Housing Market 
Assessment. 
 
The site is within the defined settlement boundary and in addition to the Rhiwgarn 
Stores immediately to the north of the site would be a short walking distance from a 
range of services and facilities within the small retail centre of Trebanog, The site 
would also be accessible by sustainable transport modes including bus, foot and 
bicycle, with the nearest train service being located at Porth. 
 
In terms of Policy AW2 the foregoing means that the site can be considered a 
sustainable location and its development would be compatible with surrounding land 
uses. 
 
With regard to the National Sustainable Placemaking Outcomes which are set out 
within Chapter 2 of PPW12, the development would make us of existing infrastructure 
and local services, whilst providing homes to meet local need at an appropriate 
density. In addition, the development would be of high quality, by virtue of it having to 
comply with DQR standards and has demonstrated that it could deliver a biodiversity 
net benefit. 
 
In light of the above, the development would be considered acceptable in principle. 
 
Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
 
The proposed development would provide fourteen dwellings of a mostly conventional 
appearance, set around a new cul-de-sac, parking area and landscaping. 
 
Elevations would comprise face brickwork under pitched and tiled roofs, and with the 
exception of plots 9 to 12 the properties would incorporate horizontal bandings of 
contrasting brick colours to the ground floor for visual interest. Given the elevation and 
exposed nature of the site, the use of brick is sensible solution rather than render. 
 
All properties would be no greater than two-storey in height and being sited in five 
small clusters or pairs would therefore be comparable in form to the scale and massing 
of the existing development to the north and east. 
 
Although the western, lower part of the site is undeveloped green space and would 
remain as such under the proposed housing development, that adjacent to Waun Wen 
is currently a combination of hardstanding and the slabs of the former school buildings. 

Tudalen 16



These are set behind a scruffy wall, rusty gates and Heras fencing, all of which create 
a sense of dereliction. 
 
The redevelopment of the site is therefore welcomed and it is considered that the 
proposed housing would contribute greatly to the enhancement of the street scene. 
 
Impact on neighbouring occupiers 
 
The application site is located in a residential area where the proposed development 
would be sympathetic, in principle to the surrounding land uses. However, the key 
concern is understanding whether the new properties would have a detrimental impact 
on existing residents. 
 
The distance between the opposing elevations of plots 1 to 6 varies between 16.2m 
and 19.1m. Although this is a little shorter than the 21m or so that would normally be 
sought, the need to make efficient use of the site and the limited developable area 
adds a constraint to how the new dwellings can be best laid out. 
 
Furthermore, it is noted that the distance between opposing existing dwellings at the 
southern end of Waun Wen is only just over 16m. This is also similar to the pattern of 
development within the next street to the east, Pen Y Dre. 
 
Since the new houses are of a similar spacing to others within the immediate area and 
the mutually opposing elevations are front to front, thus avoiding any direct overlooking 
of private rear gardens, the relationship can be considered to be acceptable. 
 
To the north of the site Rhiwgarn Stores, which has residential accommodation above, 
occupies a position on lower ground at the junction of Rhiwgarn Road and Waun Wen. 
Some of the first floor windows within the rear elevation of the property would have 
skewed views towards the side elevation of Plot 1, part of which would only be 6.5m 
away. 
 
Nevertheless, the side elevation of Plot 1 does not extend more than a couple of 
metres beyond that of Rhiwgarn Stores, so any impact to outlook is limited and Plot 1 
has no windows within its side elevation. 
 
With regard to other dwellings to the north-east at Rhiwgarn Road and Trebanog Road 
to the west, there would be a physical separation between opposing elevations of 
between 24m to 60m where either the distance or skewing between plots would not 
be expected to cause any amenity issues. 
 
Lastly, in respect of future occupiers, the development has been designed to meet 
Welsh DQR standards where the level of accommodation, both internally and 
externally, could reasonably be considered to exceed those within the Council’s 
relevant SPG. The site would be well landscaped, provide either private or communal 
gardens, in addition to the large green area to the west. 
 
Consequently, the development is considered to be acceptable in terms of the privacy 
and amenity of existing and future residents. 
 

Tudalen 17



Ecology, Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure 
 
NRW has advised that the source of the Nant Muchudd watercourse lies 
approximately 200m to the southeast of the site, which flows directly through the Rhos 
Tonyrefail SSSI.  
 
Therefore, hydrological linkages between the development site and the Nant Muchudd 
might exist such that on-site pollution within the development site could reach and 
negatively impact part of the SSSI. 
 
Due to the proximity of the site and the Nant Muchudd, NRW considers that a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan should be secured by condition in 
order to manage and control all onsite pollution sources (airborne or waterborne) 
during the development. 
 
The Council’s Ecologist has advised that the application is acceptable from a 
biodiversity perspective subject to a condition to ensure the development is carried out 
in accordance with the measures outlined in the Soft Landscaping Details, Green 
Infrastructure Statement, Species Mitigation Strategy and Habitat Management Plan. 
 
Access and highway safety 
 
The application site is served from Waun Wen which is a residential cul-de-sac serving 
16 dwellings and is sub-standard compared to current standards. The high on-street 
car parking demand along Waun Wen results in the carriageway being reduced to 
single width to accommodate it. There is an existing traffic regulation order (School 
Keep Clear markings) in place along the site frontage which requires revoking at the 
expense of the developer. 
 
The proposed development is in excess of 5 dwellings and in accordance with Welsh 
Government advice and the RCTCBC Design Guide should be designed and built to 
an adoptable standard. 
 
A satisfactory turning facility would accommodate service and delivery vehicles with 
access / egress out onto Waun Wen in forward gear and the junction radii have been 
increased to take into account the potential for existing residents to park opposite the 
proposed site access, which has been confirmed by Swept Path Analysis. 
Nonetheless, uncontrolled pedestrian crossing facilities would be required at the 
junction which are proposed to be conditioned as part of the engineering design and 
detail. 
 
The relevant Supplementary Planning Guidance sets out that 1 or 2 bedroom houses 
require a maximum of 2 spaces and for flats a maximum requirement of 1 space per 
bedroom. The development would have a shortfall of 7 resident spaces. 
 
However, taking into account that residents of social housing have lower levels of car 
ownership than privately owned or rented dwellings, the Council’s Highways and 
Transportation Section has not raised an objection. It is also noted that a Travel plan 
has been provided and cycle stands would be erected on site. 
 

Tudalen 18



TRICS data suggests that the proposed development will generate 9 to 12 peak hour 
vehicle movements. This equates to, on average, one additional movement every 5 
minutes during the busiest times. The volume of traffic generation is not considered to 
be significant and will be much lower than that generated by the previous use of the 
site as a school. There are no highway safety concerns with regards the impact of the 
proposal in terms of capacity on the existing highway network. 
 
Drainage 
 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW) has advised that it was previously informed of the 
proposed development during PAC consultation as a Specialist Consultee. 
 
In addition, DCWW has confirmed that foul water flows can be accommodated in the 
public sewer system and acknowledges that the intention is to discharge the surface 
water via infiltration swale and geocellular soakaway. Capacity is currently available 
in the water supply system to accommodate the development. 
 
The Council’s Flood Risk Team has confirmed that the development would require an 
application to the Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) Approval Body (SAB) and 
that the site does not fall within an area of surface water flood risk. 
 
Furthermore, the submitted drainage strategy has demonstrated that surface water 
will be appropriately managed and disposed of on site. The strategy outlines discharge 
rates for the proposed layout and ensures the watercourse can cope with an increase 
in flows from site. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014. 
 
The application is for development of a kind that is liable for a charge under the CIL 
Regulations 2010 as amended however, the application lies within Zone 1 of Rhondda 
Cynon Taf’s Residential Charging Zones, where a nil charge is applicable and 
therefore no CIL is payable. 
 
Section 106 Contributions / Planning Obligations  
 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act (as amended) enables Local 
Planning Authorities and developers to agree to planning obligations to require 
operations or activities to be carried out on land (in-kind obligations) or require 
payments to be made (financial contributions), to mitigate any unacceptable impacts 
of development proposals. 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, with effect from 6 April 
2010, state that a planning obligation (under S.106) may only legally constitute a 
reason for granting planning permission if it is: 
 
1. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, 
2. directly related to the development; and, 

Tudalen 19



3. fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 
 
Welsh Office Circular 13/97 Planning Obligations provides procedural guidance on the 
role of planning obligations in mitigating the site-specific impacts of unacceptable 
development to make it acceptable in planning terms. The Welsh Government 
Development Management Manual also advises planning obligations should only be 
used where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning 
condition and when it meets the three tests above.   Further guidance regarding what 
types of obligations developers may be expected to contribute towards is also 
contained within Policy AW4 of the Local Development Plan and the Council's SPG 
on Planning Obligations, however it is made clear that this is intended to form the basis 
of negotiations between all parties. 
 
The Section 106 requirements in this case 
 
In this case the proposed development, on behalf of the Registered Social Landlord 
Rhondda Housing Association, would provide 100% affordable housing for social rent. 
 
Therefore, a S106 agreement will be required for the following: 
 
i) To ensure that the dwellings are established and maintained as affordable units, for 
the continued purpose of meeting identified local housing needs. Additionally, the 
reduced off-street parking provision, compared with the Council’s SPG for Access, 
Circulation and Parking, has been considered acceptable on the basis that residents 
of social housing demonstrate lower levels of car ownership. 
 
ii) To secure an off-site recreation contribution of £14,000 (£1,000 per dwelling) to the 
upgrading of the existing play area at Henllys, in accordance with the Council’s SPG 
for Planning Obligations. 
 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed development would create an attractive housing development of mixed 
types which would help to address local needs, as set out within the Local Housing 
Market Assessment, and which would result in the regeneration of a redundant site. 
 
The impact of the development upon the residential amenity of the surrounding 
neighbouring properties and existing residents would be considered to be acceptable 
and the scheme could be accessed safely without detriment to highway safety. 
 
In addition, the development would provide a biodiversity net gain and appropriate 
consideration has been given to green infrastructure.  
 
The application is therefore considered to align with the aims and policies of PPW 12, 
including the National Sustainable Placemaking Outcomes, and the Local 
Development Plan. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT SUBJECT TO THE CONDITIONS BELOW AND A 

SECTION 106 AGREEMENT: 
 

Tudalen 20



 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

five years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  To comply with Sections 91 and 93 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be completed in accordance with 
the approved drawings and documents:  
 

• Proposed Site Layout 4050-PEN-XX-XX-DR-A-1001-S0-P17 
• Typical Boundary Details 4050-PEN-XX-00-DR-A-1005-S0-P4 
• 1 Bedroom House Type 4050-PEN-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-2000-S0-P2 
• 2B 4P House Type 1 4050-PEN-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-2100-S0-P2 
• 2B 4P House Type 2a 4050-PEN-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-2200-S0-P2 
• 2B 4P House Type 2b 4050-PEN-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-2250-S0-P2 
• Walk-Up House Type 4050-PEN-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-2300-S0-P2 
• Proposed Street Scene and Sections 4050-PEN-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-1200-

S0-P4 
• Detailed Soft Landscape Proposals TDA.2876.01 (Rev.D) 
• Proposed Access and Refuse Lorry Tracking 1590-ACS-XX-ZZ-DR-

T-009-B 
• Landscape Specification & Management Plan - Updated February 

2024 (Rev.A) 
 
and details and documents received on 19th October 2023, 27th October 
2023 and 22nd February 2024, unless otherwise to be approved and 
superseded by details required by any other condition attached to this 
consent. 
 
Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved plans and documents and 
to clearly define the scope of the permission. 
 

3. No development shall take place, including any works of site clearance, until 
a site wide Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
CEMP should include: 
 

• Construction methods: details of materials, how waste generated will 
be managed. 

• General Site Management: details of the construction programme 
including timetable, details of site clearance; details of site 
construction drainage, containments areas, appropriately sized buffer 
zones between storage areas (of spoil, oils, fuels, concrete mixing and 
washing areas) and any watercourse or surface drain. 

• Biodiversity Management: details of tree and hedgerow protection; 
invasive species management; species and habitats protection, 
avoidance and mitigation measures. 

Tudalen 21



• Soil Management: details of topsoil strip, storage and amelioration for 
re-use. 

• CEMP Masterplan: details of the extent and phasing of development; 
location of landscape and environmental resources; design proposals 
and objectives for integration and mitigation measures. 

• Resource Management: details of fuel and chemical storage and 
containment; details of waste generation and its management; details 
of water consumption, wastewater and energy use. 

• Traffic Management: details of site deliveries, plant on site, wheel 
wash facilities 

• Pollution Prevention: demonstrate how relevant Guidelines for 
Pollution Prevention and best practice will be implemented, including 
details of emergency spill procedures and incident response plan. 

• Details of the persons and bodies responsible for activities associated 
with the CEMP and emergency contact details. 
 

The CEMP shall be implemented as approved during the site preparation and 
construction phases of the development. 
 
Reason: To ensure necessary management measures are agreed prior to 
commencement of development and implemented for the protection of the 
environment during construction in accordance with Policies AW8 and AW10 
of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 
 

4. No development shall take place, including any works of site clearance, until 
a scheme to deal with contamination affecting the application site area has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
This assessment must be carried out by or under the direction of an 
independent suitably qualified competent person and shall assess any 
contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. 
  
The scheme shall include all of the following measures unless the Local 
Planning Authority dispenses with any such requirement specifically and in 
writing.: 
  
(i) A desk-top study to identify and evaluate all potential sources and impacts 
of contamination relevant to the site which has identified: 
 

• all previous uses, 
• potential contaminants associated with those uses, 
• a conceptual model of the site indicating sources, pathways and 

receptors, 
• potentially unacceptable risks arising from contamination at the site. 

 
(ii) An intrusive site investigation to assess the extent, scale and nature of 
contamination which may be present, and its implications to all receptors that 
may be affected, including those off site. The site investigation shall not be 
commenced until a desk-top study has been completed satisfying the 
requirements of paragraph (i) above. 

Tudalen 22



 
(iii) If required, a written method statement for the remediation of 
contamination affecting the site and justification for the preferred remedial 
option(s). 
 
Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan. 
 

5. No development shall take place, other than site clearance, until a 
Construction Method Statement has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority to provide for: 
 
a) the means of access into the site for all construction traffic, 
b) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors, 
c) the management of vehicular and pedestrian traffic, 
d) loading and unloading of plant and materials, 
e) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development, 
f) wheel cleansing facilities, 
g) the sheeting of lorries leaving the site, 
h) hours of operation, 
i) measures for the control of noise from demolition and construction, 
j) site lighting during demolition and construction, 
k) measures for the suppression of dust 
 
The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the development process unless agreed otherwise in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interests of the safety and free flow of traffic in accordance 
with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 
 

6. No development shall take place, other than site clearance until full 
engineering design and details of the road layout including sections, 
uncontrolled crossing facilities, street lighting details and surface water 
drainage details, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved details. 
 
Reason: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed development, in the 
interests of highway and Pedestrian safety in accordance with Policy AW5 of 
the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 
 

7. No development shall take place, other than site clearance, until a scheme 
to enable the provision of gigabit capable broadband infrastructure from the 
site boundary to the dwellings/buildings hereby permitted has been submitted 
to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority.  Development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details.  
  

Tudalen 23



Reason:  To support the roll-out of digital communications infrastructure 
across Wales in accordance with Policy 13 of Future Wales. 
 

8. No development shall take place, other than site clearance, until: 
 
i) a scheme of further intrusive investigations has been carried out on site to 
establish the risks posed to the development by past shallow coal mining 
activity;  and 
 
ii) any remediation works and/or mitigation measures to address land 
instability arising from coal mining legacy, as may be necessary, have been 
implemented on site in full in order to ensure that the site is made safe and 
stable for the development proposed.   
 
The intrusive site investigations and remedial works shall be carried out by 
or under the direction of an independent suitably qualified competent person. 
 
Reason: To ensure that the site is safe and stable to accommodation the 
development, in accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan. 
 

9. No development shall take place, other than site clearance, until details and 
design calculations of any retaining walls abutting the highway have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  All 
works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to 
beneficial occupation.  
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy AW5 of 
the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 
 

10. Prior to beneficial occupation any required remediation measures, approved 
in the scheme referred to in Condition 4, shall be implemented and a suitable 
validation report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Any validation report shall be carried out by or under the 
direction of an independent suitably qualified competent person. 
 
Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan. 
 

11. Prior to beneficial occupation a signed statement or declaration, prepared by 
an independent suitably qualified competent person, confirming that the site 
is, or has been made, safe and stable for the approved development shall be 
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. This 
document shall confirm the methods and findings of the intrusive site 
investigations and the completion of any remedial works and/or mitigation 
necessary to address the risks posed by past coal mining activity.      
 

Tudalen 24



Reason: To ensure that the site is safe and stable to accommodation the 
development, in accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan. 
 

12. Prior to beneficial occupation the parking and turning facilities, shall be laid 
out in accordance with the approved plans. The car parking spaces shall be 
surfaced in permanent material and remain for the parking of vehicles in 
association with the proposed thereafter. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to ensure vehicles are parked 
off the highway in accordance with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan. 
 

13. Prior to beneficial occupation and following the revocation of the existing 
Traffic Regulation Order, the ‘School Keep Clear’ markings along Waun Wen 
shall be removed  
 
Reason: To ensure deliverability of Traffic Management measures and 
restrictions in the interests of highway safety in accordance with Policy AW5 
of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 
 

14. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Landscape 
Specification and Management Plan (report by TDA, dated July 2023 and 
updated February 2024); Section 3 of the Habitat Management Plan (report 
by Wildwood Ecology, dated 22/02/2024); and Sections 4 and 5 of the 
Species Mitigation Strategy (report by Wildwood Ecology, dated 22/02/2024). 
 
All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved plan ‘Detailed Soft 
Landscape Proposals TDA.2876.01(Rev. D) shall be carried out in the first 
planting and seeding seasons following the occupation of the buildings or the 
completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or 
plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased 
shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and 
species. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, Prunus Laurocerasus (Cherry Laurel) shall not 
be used and the 2no. Alnus Cordata shall be substituted with a Silver Birch 
and Rowan. 
 
Reason: In the interest of biodiversity and the natural environment in 
accordance with PPW 12 and Policies AW6 and AW8 of the Rhondda Cynon 
Taf Local Development Plan. 
 

15. No surface water run-off from the proposed development shall discharge 
onto the public highway or connected to any highway drainage system. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and to prevent overcapacity of the 
existing highway drainage system and potential flooding in accordance with 
Policies AW5 and AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

Tudalen 25



 
16. If during development works any contamination should be encountered which 

was not previously identified and is derived from a different source and/or of 
a different type to those included in the contamination proposals then work 
shall cease and revised contamination proposals shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the work 
recommencing. Any revised contamination proposals shall be carried out by 
or under the direction of an independent suitably qualified competent person. 
 
Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity in 
accordance with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development 
Plan. 
 

 
 
 

Tudalen 26



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

21 March 2024 
 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
Members are asked to determine the planning application outlined below: 

APPLICATION NO: 23/1294/10             (GRD) 
APPLICANT: Fairleap Limited 
DEVELOPMENT: Part change of use from offices (B1 use class) to a 

gymnasium (D2 use class) 
LOCATION: FAIRLEAP HOUSE, BRECON ROAD, HIRWAUN, 

ABERDARE, CF44 9NS 
DATE REGISTERED: 14/11/2023 
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Hirwaun, Penderyn and Rhigos 

 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve, Subject to conditions 

REASONS: The application site is located in a sustainable location and would 
make beneficial use of an existing building, providing employment 
opportunities and additional facilities within the key settlement of Hirwaun. 

Whilst the area is predominantly residential in character, the site has previously 
been used as a Health Centre and offices. In this context and considering past 
uses which have operated at the site, it is not considered that the proposed use 
of part of the building as a gymnasium would significantly impact upon the 
amenities or privacy of neighbouring occupiers.  

Furthermore, the proposal would not involve extension to the application 
building and would not impact upon the character and appearance of the site 
nor would the development have any adverse impact upon highway safety in the 
vicinity of the site.   

 
REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE  
 

• Three or more objections have been received by persons affected by the 
proposal.  

 
APPLICATION DETAILS 
Full planning permission is sought for the conversion of parts of an existing building 
from office spaces (Use Class B1) to a gymnasium (Use Class D2). A small area of 
the building would be retained as office spaces. 
 
The proposed gymnasium would contain a reception area, several treatment rooms, 
along with a Gym/ Yoga Area, Kitchen/ Canteen, Locker Room, Bike Stores and 
associated facilities.  
 

Tudalen 27

Agendwm 6



The block plan submitted demonstrates that vehicular parking spaces would be 
retained as existing and provided to the side and rear of the building. Additionally, a 
bike shelter is proposed at the site.  
 
The supporting information notes that the development proposes 2 full-time members 
of staff and 3 part-time members of staff. The opening times have been stated as 6am 
– 8pm Monday to Friday, and 9am - 12pm on Saturdays, Sundays and Bank Holidays.  
 
No external extensions or significant external alterations are proposed at the site.  
 
The application is also supported by a statement outlining the parking requirements 
for the gymnasium.  
 
SITE APPRAISAL 
The application site relates to a roughly rectangular parcel of land with an area of 
approximately 0.26 hectares, located towards the southern part of Hirwaun and 
located to the northwest of the Heads of the Valleys Road (A465), with access gained 
to the site from the adjacent highway, Brecon Road. The site is occupied by the former 
Hirwaun Health Centre, which has more recently been used as office spaces. The site 
also contains an existing area of hardstanding to be used as parking spaces.  
 
The site is unallocated and is located within the settlement boundary limits of Hirwaun. 
The application site is bound to the east, west and north by neighbouring properties 
and their associated residential curtilages.  
 
The surrounding area is predominantly residential; however, a barber shop is also 
located to the east of the application site.   
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
22/1281/38: FAIRLEAP HOUSE, BRECON ROAD, HIRWAUN, ABERDARE, CF44 
9NS. ‘Discharge of conditions 3 landscaping,  4 boundary treatment,  6 means of 
access,  7 S278 - access (19/0165/15)’. Not yet determined  
 
19/0165/15: FAIRLEAP HOUSE, BRECON ROAD, HIRWAUN, ABERDARE, CF44 
9NS: ‘Variation of Condition 1 (time limit) to extend the date of commencement of 
planning permission ref 14/0600 for the demolition of the former Hirwaun Health 
Centre and erection of 5 no. 4 bedroom detached houses and garages together with 
external works (Bat Survey Received 29th November 2019)’. Granted, 19/12/2019 
 
14/0600/10: HIRWAUN HEALTH CENTRE, BRECON ROAD, HIRWAUN, 
ABERDARE, CF44 9NS. ‘Demolition of the former Hirwaun Health Centre and erection 
of 5 no. 4 bedroom detached houses and garages together with external works 
(amended layout plan received 26/11/14, amended drainage plan received 12/01/15)’. 
Granted, 07/04/2015 
 
PUBLICITY 
The application has been advertised by means of direct neighbour notification and 
through the erection of site notices in the vicinity of the site. Letters of objection have 
been received from three individuals. Points raised are summarised as follows: 
 

Tudalen 28



• Consider that a gymnasium set in a predominantly residential area would be 
unusual and incongruous at this location; 

• Concerns with additional vehicle movements affecting Brecon Road; 
• Concerns with a substandard access to the site and concerns with pedestrian 

safety crossing the access to the site; 
• Objectors note that previous breaches of planning control have occurred at the 

site, and that this would occur again with the proposed use; 
• Concerns that the gymnasium would attract illegal drugs and steroids to the 

site; 
• Concerns with the increase in noise caused by the introduction of a gymnasium 

at this location; 
• Concerns with the early opening times proposed and noise generated by 

slamming of doors 
• Objections due to the proposed opening times, which an objector has noted 

would exceed the operational times of previous uses at the site. 
• Objections due to the proposal lowering neighbouring property values 
• Objector notes that another gym is not needed in Hirwaun; 
• Requests that a fence is erected around the site to protect the privacy of 

neighbouring occupiers and limit the noise and disturbance caused by the 
proposed use 
 

CONSULTATION: 
Hirwaun and Penderyn Community Council 
No adverse comments received.  
 
Local Highway Authority  
No objections.  
 
Welsh Government (Transport Section) 
Does not issue a direction. 
 
Flood Risk Management 
No objections. Advisory notes recommended.  
 
Public Health & Protection 
No objections, subject to condition. Advisory notes recommended.  
 
Ecology 
No objections. Advisory note recommended.  
 
Welsh Water 
No objections, subject to condition. Advisory notes recommended.  
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan 
Members will be aware that the current LDP’s lifespan was 2011 to 2021 and that it is 
in the process of being reviewed. The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 introduced 
provisions specifying the period to which a plan has effect and providing that it shall 

Tudalen 29



cease to be the LDP at the end of the specified period. These provisions were 
commenced on 4th January 2016 but do not have retrospective effect. Therefore, the 
provisions do not apply to LDPs adopted prior to this date and plans adopted before 
4th January 2016 will remain the LDP for determining planning applications until 
replaced by a further LDP. This was clarified in guidance published by the Minister on 
24th September 2020. Subsequently, Members are advised that the existing Plan 
remains the development plan for consideration when determining this planning 
application. 
 
The application site lies within the settlement boundary limits of Hirwaun. 
 
Policy CS1 (Development in the North): sets out criteria for achieving strong, 
sustainable communities.  
Policy AW2 (Sustainable Locations): advises that development proposals on non-
allocated sites will only be supported in sustainable locations. 
Policy AW5 (New Development): sets out criteria for new development in relation to 
amenity and accessibility. 
Policy AW6 (Design and Placemaking): requires development to involve a high 
quality design and to make a positive contribution to placemaking, including 
landscaping. 
Policy AW8 (Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment): seeks to 
ensure that developments would not unacceptably impact upon features of importance 
to landscape or nature conservation.  
Policy AW10 (Environmental Protection and Public Health): development 
proposals must overcome any harm to public health, the environment or local amenity 
as a result of flooding. 
Policy AW11 (Existing Employment and Retail Uses): Sets out criteria for 
proposals promoting alternative uses for employment and retail sites.  
Policy NSA3 (Development in the Key Settlement of Hirwaun): Outlines how 
development proposals would be assessed within Hirwaun.  
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Design and Placemaking 
Nature Conservation 
Planning Obligations 
Access Circulation and Parking 
 
National Guidance 
In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics.  
 
Planning Policy Wales Edition 12 (PPW) was issued on 7th of February 2024 with 
Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (FW2040) published in 2021. PPW 
incorporates the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act into 
town and country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) policy on planning 
issues relevant to the determination of all planning applications. FW2040 sets out the 
National Development Framework for Wales (NDF), WGs current position on planning 
policy at regional and national level.  

Tudalen 30



 
It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the key principles 
and requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 
its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments.  
 
Given the minor scale of the proposed development and its relationship with only the 
immediate surrounding area, there are limitations to the extent such a scheme can 
have in promoting planning objectives at a national scale. As such, whilst the scheme 
aligns with the overarching sustainable development aims of FW2040, it is not 
considered the policies set out in the document are specifically relevant to this 
application. 

Other relevant national policy guidance consulted: 

PPW Technical Advice Note 4: Retail and Commercial Development; 
PPW Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning; 
PPW Technical Advice Note 11: Noise; 
PPW Technical Advice Note 12: Design; 
PPW Technical Advice Note 18: Transport; 
PPW Technical Advice Note 23: Economic Development  
 
REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 
be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Furthermore, applications that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan 
should not be allowed, unless material considerations justify the grant of planning 
permission.  
 
Main Issues: 
 
Principle of the proposed development 
The application relates to the change of use of part of an existing building last used as 
office spaces to a gymnasium (Use Class D2). Part of the building would be retained 
as office spaces.  
 
The site is situated within the settlement boundary limits of Hirwaun, is within walking 
distance of the settlement’s retail centre and is located on a bus route. The 
development site is therefore considered to be in a sustainable location. 
 
The building relates to the former Hirwaun Health Centre, which has also more 
recently been used as office spaces. Whilst the surrounding area is predominantly 
residential, the building and application site have been used for both business and 
non-residential uses and the provision of a gymnasium within parts of the building 
would not be considered to unacceptably conflict with surrounding uses in this respect. 
 

Tudalen 31



Whilst PPW12 encourages a ‘Town Centre First’ policy, the key settlement of Hirwaun 
does not have a ‘Town Centre’ and it is accepted that the identified retail centre within 
the village is relatively small and lacks a wide range of properties capable of 
accommodating the proposed use. The application site is also within settlement 
boundary limits and within safe walking distance from the Town’s Retail Centre.  
 
Overall, it is considered that the proposal would make beneficial re-use of an existing 
building which would provide regeneration benefits through additional employment 
and provide additional facilities within the key settlement of Hirwaun.  
 
The principle of development is therefore considered acceptable, subject to other 
normal planning considerations which are discussed in the following sections.  
 
Impact on the character and appearance of the area 
The proposal would not result in any extensions and the external alterations would be 
limited. The character and appearance of the building would therefore remain largely 
as existing.  
 
Impact on residential amenity and privacy 
The proposal would not result in any extensions at the building and as such, it is not 
considered that the proposed development would adversely impact upon the privacy 
or amenities of neighbouring occupiers through loss of light or overshadowing. 
 
It is acknowledged that the provision of a gymnasium at the site would result in 
comings and going to and from the site with some disturbance cause by vehicles and 
the presence of gym users accessing the facility. However, the building and application 
site relate to the Former Hirwaun Health Centre, with the building last being used as 
offices, with noise, activity and disturbances, including vehicular activity, associated 
with such past uses. It is not therefore considered that the proposed use of parts of 
the building as a modestly scaled gymnasium would significantly increase noise levels 
or levels of disturbance in comparison to what was previously experienced at the 
application site. 
 
The detached building is set at a reasonable distance away from properties to the west 
and northwest, being sited approx. 20m away from the dwellinghouse of Sunnyville to 
the west and the gymnasium use itself would be sited approx. 11m from Sunnyview to 
the west with some existing boundary treatments providing some levels of protection 
to neighbouring amenities. The proposed gymnasium would also be located over 45m 
away from neighbouring properties to the northeast of the site. 
 
A neighbouring property, namely Caraway, is located approx. 5m to the southeast of 
the building and proposed gymnasium. Some concern is raised with the proximity of 
the neighbouring property to the proposed use; however, the internal layout plan 
demonstrates that rooms which face the adjacent property to the southeast would be 
small ‘treatment rooms’, which would unlikely cause significant levels of intrusion or 
generate significant levels of noise which would detriment the amenities of 
neighbouring occupiers. 
 
The proposed gymnasium would be contained within the building itself and due to the 
scale and layout of the proposed gymnasium and the detachment of the building from 

Tudalen 32



neighbouring properties, it is not considered that the proposed use at this site would 
significantly detriment the amenities of neighbouring occupiers.  
 
No objections were received by the Council’s Public Health and Protection Department 
following consultation, with comments received in relation to the operation of the 
gymnasium, which are recommended as advisory notes to any grant of planning 
consent. A condition is also recommended that members of the public shall only be 
allowed on the premises between the hours of 06:00hrs – 20:00hrs Mondary to Friday 
and 09:00 – 12:00 Saturdays and Sundays.  
 
Concerns have been raised by third parties with regards to the proposed development 
and objectors have noted that the gymnasium would be out of keeping within this 
residential area, with concerns also raised in relation to an increase in noise, the 
proposed opening hours, and other disturbances such as slamming of doors. 
However, as discussed above, the site and building have been used for both business 
and non-residential uses in the past and it is considered that based on the submitted 
plans and information that the provision of a modest gymnasium at this location would 
be considered acceptable.  
 
Overall, considering the existing context and past uses at the site, the proposed use 
of part of the building as a gymnasium would not be considered to significantly impact 
the amenities of neighbouring occupiers.  
 
Access and highway safety 
The application has been assessed by the Local Highway Authority and no objection 
is raised in relation to the proposal. The comments received are summarised as 
follows: 
 
Access 
The carriageway width of 4.5m is satisfactory for two small cars to pass one- another 
only. It is not anticipated that the proposed use as a gymnasium would attract large 
service and delivery vehicles and therefore the existing 4.5m carriageway width is 
acceptable. 
 
Parking SPG Access, Circulation & Parking 2011 & Wales Parking Standards 2014 
 
The Local Highway Authority (LHA) consider that the existing office use requires in the 
region of 16 off-street car parking spaces with 23 provided. The proposed gymnasium 
requires 1 space per 10m2 in accordance with the South Wales Parking Standards 
2014. 
 
The applicant has provided a breakdown of the existing areas to be used in association 
with the proposed gymnasium. 
 

• Treatment Room & Gym Area 170m2 / 10m2 = 17 spaces. 
• Office to remain requires 5 spaces with 4 marked for use. 
• There are 23 spaces provided 4 of which are marked for gym staff. 

 
Therefore, the LHA considers that the proposed development requires up-to a 
maximum of 22 off-street car parking spaces with 23 spaces provided. 

Tudalen 33



 
Cycle Parking 
 
The development provides for 20 secure cycle stands to promote sustainable modes 
of transport with less reliance placed on the private motor vehicle as the primary mode 
of transport, which is considered acceptable.  
 
Local Highway Authority Recommendation: 
 
The proposed use would be served off an existing access which is acceptable for 
standard two-way vehicular movement. It is not anticipated that a gymnasium would 
attract a substantial amount of HGV vehicular movement and therefore no 
improvements at the junction have been conditioned. Off-street car parking complies 
with the guidance stated above and therefore no objection is raised or condition 
suggested. 
 
Third parties have raised concerns in relation to impacts on pedestrian safety, 
concerns with additional vehicular movements along Brecon Road and what objectors 
consider to be a substandard access to the site. However, as identified above, no such 
concerns are raised by the Local Highway Authority in relation to access or highway 
safety and the development is considered acceptable in this respect.  
 
Following consultation, the Welsh Government as Highway Authority for the A465 
trunk road has not issued a direction in respect of this application.  
 
Other Issues: 
Welsh Water/ Dwr Cymru have offered no objections to the proposal, subject to a 
condition ensuring that no surface water from an increase in the roof area of the 
building shall be allowed to drain directly or indirectly to the public sewerage system. 
However, no extensions are proposed at the site and as such, the condition is not 
considered necessary.  
 
Natural Resources Wales’ Surface Water Flood Risk maps have been used to review 
the site’s surface water flood risk, as per Paragraph 8 of Tan 15. The review concluded 
that the site boundary does not fall within an area of surface water flood risk and no 
objections were received by the Council’s Flood Risk Management section following 
consultation.  
 
The Council’s Public Health Department have issued no objection to the proposal, with 
standard advice recommended in respect of hours of construction, noise, dust, and 
waste. The Council’s Public Health and Protection Department have also offered 
comments and recommended a condition in relation to opening hours at the proposed 
gymnasium.  
 
No extensions and no alterations to the roof are proposed, and as such, the 
development would not be considered to impact local ecological interests. However, 
a condition for biodiversity enhancement details is recommended. 
 
Third Party Comments: 
 

Tudalen 34



Objectors have raised concerns with an increase in drugs and drug use in the vicinity 
of the site. However, should any illegal activity be undertaken at the site then the Police 
and other relevant authorities would have powers to act.   
 
Concerns have also been raised by objectors in relation to previous planning breaches 
at the site. However, each application must be considered on its own merits with the 
Local Planning Authority assessing whether the proposed change of use of part of the 
building to a gymnasium would be acceptable in planning terms. Should any breaches 
of planning occur in future at the site, then the Local Planning Authority would have 
powers to take appropriate action. 
 
Objectors have also noted that the proposed use would lower neighbouring property 
values. However, this would not be considered a material planning consideration for 
the purposes of this planning application. 
 
Concerns were also raised with regards to a boundary fence between a neighbouring 
property and the application site, which the objector noted was agreed between 
neighbouring parties. However, a previous agreement between neighbours to erect a 
boundary fence would be considered a private matter between neighbouring 
occupiers. The provision of additional boundary treatment is not considered necessary 
as a condition for a grant of planning permission for the proposed use in respect of 
this development.   
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014. 
 
The application is for development of a kind that is not CIL liable under the CIL 
Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
Conclusion 
 
The application site is in a sustainable location and would make beneficial use of an 
existing building, providing employment opportunities and additional facilities within 
the key settlement of Hirwaun. 
 
Whilst the area is predominantly residential, the site has previously been used as a 
Health Centre and offices. In this context and considering past uses which have 
operated at the site, it is not considered that the proposed use of part of the building 
as a gymnasium would significantly impact upon the amenities or privacy of 
neighbouring occupiers.  
 
Furthermore, the proposal would not involve extension to the application building and 
would not impact upon the character and appearance of the site, nor would it have any 
adverse impact upon highway safety in the vicinity of the site.   
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve, subject to conditions 
 

Tudalen 35



1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
five years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  To comply with Sections 91 and 93 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans unless otherwise to be approved and superseded by 
details required by any other condition attached to this consent: 
 

• Existing Site Layout. Drawing No. 01 
• Existing Floor Plan and Elevations. Drawing No. 02 
• Proposed Site Layout Location Plan. Drawing No. 03. Rev A 
• Proposed Floor Plan and Elevations. Drawing No. 04  

 
And documents received by the Local Planning Authority on 14/11/2023 and 
19/01/2024 unless otherwise to be approved and superseded by details 
required by any other condition attached to this consent. 
 
Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved plans and documents and 
to clearly define the scope of the permission. 
 

3. The premises shall only be used as a gymnasium and offices and for no other 
purpose, including any other purpose in Class D2 of the schedule to the Town 
and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order, 1987 or in any provision 
equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting 
that Order.  
 
Reason: In the interest of residential amenity and highway safety in 
accordance with Policies AW5 and AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan. 
 

4. Members of the public shall only be allowed on the premises between the 
hours of: 
 
Monday – Friday:               06:00hrs – 20:00hrs 
Saturday and Sunday:       09:00hrs – 12:00 noon.  
 
Reason: In the interests of the amenity of neighbouring occupiers and to 
define the scope of the consent, in accordance with Policies AW5 and AW10 
of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 
 

5. Prior to the development being brought into beneficial use, a scheme for 
biodiversity enhancement shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

Reason: Future Wales requires all development to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity.  

 

Tudalen 36



 

Tudalen 37



tudalen wag



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

21 March 2024 
 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
Members are asked to determine the planning application outlined below: 

APPLICATION NO: 23/1444/10             (KL) 
APPLICANT: CJC Estates Ltd and Trivallis 
DEVELOPMENT: Demolition of existing buildings and proposed 

development of 4 no. residential dwellings and 4 no. 
flats, landscaping, bat roost mitigation, bin store, bike 
store and associated works  

LOCATION: THE OLD SCHOOL,  MERTHYR ROAD, LLWYDCOED, 
ABERDARE, CF44 0UT 

DATE REGISTERED: 08/01/2024 
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Aberdare West and Llwydcoed 
 

RECOMMENDATION: Approve, subject to S106 Agreement and conditions 

REASONS: The proposed development would enable the re-use of a previously 
developed site, providing much-needed affordable housing within settlement 
limits and within a sustainable location. 

The proposed layout of the site and the scale and design of the proposed 
dwellings would be acceptable in the context of the surrounding area and, given 
that the existing building has been vacant for some time, it would also bring an 
under-used site back into beneficial use.  

The proposed use of the site for residential purposes is considered acceptable, 
given that the site is situated in an area that is almost entirely residential in 
character and it is not considered that the development would be detrimental to 
amenity or privacy of neighbouring properties. 

Furthermore, the development would provide a betterment in terms of highway 
safety with the proposal improving the junction radii and vision splay at the 
junction between Merthyr Road and Corner House Street, and also with the road 
at Corner House Street being widened and a footway provided.  

Consequently, the proposed development is considered to be acceptable in 
respect of the LDP and national planning policy framework. 
 
REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE  
 

• The proposal is not covered by determination powers delegated to the 
Director of Prosperity & Development 

• Three or more letters of objection have been received; 
 

Tudalen 39

Agendwm 7



APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the construction of 4 no. residential dwellings 
and 4 no. flats on land currently occupied by The Old School on Merthyr Road, 
Llwydcoed. The proposal also includes details of landscaping, bat roost mitigation, bin 
stores, bike stores and other associated works.  
 
The proposed development would result in the demolition of the existing building and 
the construction of 4 no. residential dwellings and 4 no. flats in its place.  
 
Plots 1-6 would be arranged in a terrace of 4 properties which would front onto Merthyr 
Road whilst plots 7 & 8 would form a semi-detached pair fronting onto Corner House 
Street. All 8 properties would benefit from off-street car parking provision to the side 
(plots 1 & 2) or front elevations (plots 3-8) and private or shared amenity space to the 
rear. 
 
The following dwelling types are proposed: 
 

• Plots 1 & 2: Two bed dwellings. 
• Plots 3-6: One bed self-contained flats. 
• Plots 7 & 8: Three bed dwellings. 

 
Externally, the proposed dwellings would be finished using a palette of materials 
consisting of render (Parex Mouse Grey) and grey brickwork with the roofs being 
covered in Cembrit Jutland blue black slates with clay angle ridge tiles. Windows and 
doors would be of uPVC and composite construction (in Anthracite Grey) respectively. 
 
Each of the dwellings would have bin and bike storage facilities within their rear 
gardens whilst the flats would have shared bin and bike storage facilities within the 
shared outdoor space. Each unit would also benefit from an air source heat pump and 
solar panels to the rear roof slopes. 
 
Plot 5 would further incorporate a bat roost building within its rear garden. The building 
would measure 4.4m in width by 6.4m in depth with a pitched roof design that would 
measure 4.4 metres in height to the ridge and 2.1m in height to the eaves. It would be 
of stone construction with a slate tile covering which would incorporate 2 no. lead bat 
access slates. A single access door would be incorporated within the side elevation 
for maintenance access.  
 
In addition to the standard plans and application forms, the application is accompanied 
by the following supporting documents: 
 

• Covering Letter 
• Green Infrastructure Statement 
• Bat Survey 
• Arboricultural Report  

 
SITE APPRAISAL 
 

Tudalen 40



The application site relates to a broadly rectangular shaped plot of land that is situated 
at the junction between Merthyr Road and Corner House Street in the village of 
Llwydcoed, Aberdare. It measures approximately 1400m2 (0.14ha) and rises 
gradually in ground profile in a south-west to north-east direction.  
 
The site is currently occupied by a former primary school building which is situated at 
the most central and northern parts, with two other detached outbuildings being 
located at the most southern and north-western corners. It is understood that the 
building was most recently occupied by a commercial business known as Tectonic 
International Ltd (Use Class B1) however, the building is currently vacant. 
 
Vehicular access is provided directly off Merthyr Road at the north-western boundary 
whilst a secondary gated access is provided off Corner House Street at the north-
eastern boundary.  
 
The surrounding area is predominantly residential in character with a variety of 
different house styles and scales visible in the immediate vicinity. A war memorial park 
and Monument (Listed) is situated immediately adjacent to the southern boundary of 
the site.  
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
The following planning applications are on record for this site: 
 
23/1330 The Old School, Merthyr 

Road, Llwydcoed 
Discharge of condition 15 
(Historic Building Record) of 
planning permission ref. 
19/1278/13 
 

Pending 

23/1069 The Old School, Merthyr 
Road, Llwydcoed 

Application for reserved 
matters approval 
(appearance, landscaping, 
layout, access and scale) 
and discharge of conditions 
3 (Tree Protection), 5 
(Boundary Treatment Plan), 
6 (Materials), 11 
(Construction Method 
Statement) pursuant to 
outline planning permission 
ref: 19/1278/13 
 

Granted 
29/02/24 

19/1278 The Old School, Merthyr 
Road, Llwydcoed 

Outline application with all 
matters reserved for 5 
residential dwellings 
(demolition of existing 
buildings) (Amended plan to 
include bat roost mitigation 
measures rec. 12/08/2020) 
 

Granted 
17/12/21 

Tudalen 41



11/0988 Tectonic International 
Ltd. Merthyr Road, 
Llwydcoed 
 

Proposed extensions and 
alterations to offices 

Granted 
09/11/11 

10/0822 Tectonic International 
Ltd. Merthyr Road, 
Llwydcoed  

Change of use from Class 
D1 to Class B1 to 
accommodate established 
business, repair & 
improvements to buildings 
for the provision of office 
space, software 
development, 
assembly/testing computers, 
light engineering (amended 
plans rec. 09/03/11, 
indicating access to site 
from Merthyr Road). 

Granted 
14/04/11 

 
PUBLICITY 
 
The application has been advertised by means of direct neighbour notification letters 
and through the erection of a number of site notices in the vicinity of the site. A total of 
21 letters of objection have been received from 18 individuals which are summarised 
as follows: 
 
Access/Parking: 
 

• Parking is already an issue in the area 
• Additional houses and especially flats will create a problem for the street as 

there is not enough parking available for residents at the moment. 
• Traffic is already an issue and the proposal would make things worse over time 

and accidents are more likely to happen with parents attending the nearby 
school.  

• The junction is very dangerous and has limited visibility.  
• High speed traffic along Merthyr Road is an issue and more cars to a family 

would be costly for the environment and our carbon footprint. 
• We need to be mindful of pedestrians. 
• Merthyr Road is an incredibly busy through-route and it is becoming 

increasingly busy as a result of the A465 road works.  
• Access to and from existing houses on Merthyr Road is already problematic 

and dangerous.  
• Additional driveways off Merthyr Road would increase danger.  
• Corner House Street only allows for single lane traffic and is already busy with 

school traffic. 
• Some 70 + vehicles traverse the street at peak school times. 
• The previous business that occupied the site were refused use of the entrance 

in Corner House Street on safety grounds.  

Tudalen 42



• The plan indicates a marginal improvement to the vision splay at the junction 
however this would be limited in view of the parking at the junction and the fact 
that both streets are exceptionally busy.  

• The development has a potential for 12+ vehicles, plus any visitors, and falls 
far below the acceptable requirement as parking and turning spaces are limited.  

• There is no on street parking available for the new properties. 
• The flats are suitable for 2 occupants so there could easily be 2 cars to each 

flat however, only one space is allocated per flat.  
• Merthyr Road is an ambulance route.  
• Parking from the customers of the nearby pub is already an issue.  
• Corner House Street has few pavements, none in most of it, and this amplifies 

the danger that extra vehicles and entrances into properties would present.  
• Cars park on pavements which makes it dangerous for children to cross the 

road (photographic evidence has been provided). 
 
Character/Appearance: 
 

• The development is high-density and overdevelopment of the site. 
• The development is not in-keeping with the current aesthetic/surrounding 

housing stock. 
• The development includes a 6ft fence which is obtrusive and not in-keeping 

with the aesthetic of the area. 
• The Old school is an historic building which should not be demolished as this 

will detract from the character of the building.  
• The existing building has historical value and should be preserved.  
• The development is not commensurate with design, style and detailing of the 

existing dwellings in the immediate area.  
• Existing boundary treatment is either brickwork or stone.  
• The development does not comply with Policy NSA10 as the number of 

proposed properties is more than double the density of properties stipulated.   
• The development is not efficient use of land. 
• The original plan (of the outline/reserved matters consents) were more in line 

with the village in terms of the amount of space between dwellings and in that 
the majority of the housing in the area is houses, not flats.  

 
Amenity and Privacy: 
 

• Concern is raised with lack of privacy for properties directly opposite the site. 
• Additional on-street activity and noise from extra vehicles will be a disturbance.  
• The development would decrease air quality given increased emissions from 

additional vehicles which will impact on children’s quality of life.  
 
Sustainability:  
 

• Social housing on this site is not sustainable in terms of local transport. 
• There is no train service to Llwydcoed Village. 
• The local bus service is infrequent and is discontinued early into the evening.  
• The local shop is a long walk with access via a steep hill.  

 

Tudalen 43



Ecology:  
 

• Issue over highly protected species and local wildlife 
• Concerns are raised with tree felling/pruning.  

 
Tenure: 
 

• Concern is raised with regards to the proposed tenancy of the development, 
the potential for crime, anti-social behaviour, drinking and abuse and the impact 
this will have on the safety of school children and existing residents.  

• There are already 2 estates in Llwydcoed which experience problems with 
tenants. There is no need for affordable housing in the area.  

• The area is characterised by privately-owned dwellings which are large, 
executive houses. A development for affordable housing would therefore not 
be in-keeping with the area.  

• The proposal may have designed out the opportunity for crime and anti-social 
behaviour however, the fact remains that the tenure of the dwellings proposed 
have an association with increased levels of insecurity.  
 

Other: 
 

• We have historical cottages that need to be protected.  
• The proposal would set a dangerous precedent for future development. 
• This application should be refused in favour or the initial proposal for 5 private 

dwellings, which has already been granted planning permission.  
• There is no objection to the development that currently has planning permission 

for 5 private dwellings.  
• There have been several private developments within Llwydcoed over the last 

few years with no effort made by developers or the Council to integrate social 
housing into these developments. 

• To go from zero social housing to 100% social housing doesn’t echo the 
importance of inclusivity/social mobility or take into consideration current 
residents community/property values. 

• Concern is raised in relation to noise and disturbance during construction.  
• Failure to provide a bypass road for Llwydcoed means that Merthyr Road will 

have significant quantities of extra traffic in coming months and years.  
• It is unclear what the plans are for the existing wall adjacent to no. 6 Corner 

House Street. It is requested that consultation be undertaken with the occupier 
as any change or removal of that wall would directly affect them.  

• Confirmation is sought that no damage will be done to the neighbouring 
property in the even that the wall is removed or altered.  

• Disruption by workmen should be kept to a minimum and they should respect 
the neighbouring property.  

• Additional houses in the area will undoubtedly have further drain on resources 
in the area.  

• A benefits analysis should be undertaken to review the impact of these new 
properties on the local community and to ensure that it would have a positive 
outcome.  

Tudalen 44



• The demolition of the existing building will cause mess, noise and disruption to 
residents with heavy machinery involved which would be a major catastrophe 
and traffic problem.  

• The development will devalue existing properties.  
• A query is raised as to why the site cannot be use for the community. 
• There are many vacant properties for sale in the locality, including properties 

built by the current developer. There is no need to increase properties in the 
area. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
The following consultation responses have been received: 
 
Ecology: No objection, subject to S106 agreement, and condition. 
 
Flood Risk Management: No objection, condition recommended. 
 
Glamorgan Gwent Ecological Trust: No objection, condition recommended.  
 
Housing Strategy: No objection. 
  
Highways and Transportation: No objection, conditions recommended.  
 
Natural Resources Wales: No objection, subject to S106 agreement, and condition. 
 
Public Health and Protection: No objection, conditions recommended. 
 
South Wales Fire and Rescue: No objection. 
 
South Wales Police: No objection. Observations made in respect of Secured by 
Design. 
 
Welsh Water: No objection, condition recommended. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan 
 
The application site is located within the defined settlement boundary and is not 
allocated for any specific purpose. The following policies are considered to be relevant 
to this application: 
Policy CS1 – Development in the North: focus is on developing sustainable 
communities achieved by providing high quality, affordable accommodation that 
promotes diversity in the residential market and ensuring the removal and remediation 
of under used and previously used land.   
 
Policy AW1 – Supply of New Housing: sets out the means by which new housing 
will be delivered through the development plan, including the development of 
unallocated land within the defined settlement boundaries, the provision of affordable 

Tudalen 45



housing and the development of land which accords with the requirement of Policy 
NSA10. 
 
Policy AW2 – Sustainable Locations: advises that development proposals on non-
allocated sites will only be supported in sustainable locations which includes sites 
within the defined settlement boundaries and which would have good access to key 
services and facilities as well as a range of public transport.  
 
Policy AW4 – Community Infrastructure & Planning Obligations: lists community 
infrastructure and planning obligation contributions which the Council may seek in 
respect of key settlements. 
 
Policy AW5 – New Development: sets out criteria for new development in relation to 
amenity and accessibility. 
 
Policy AW6 – Design and Placemaking: requires development to involve a high 
quality design and to make a positive contribution to place making, including 
landscaping. 
 
Policy AW7 – Protection and Enhancement of the Built Environment: states that 
developments that impact upon sites of architectural and/or historical merit will only be 
permitted where the proposal would preserve or enhance the character and 
appearance of the site.  
 
Policy AW8 – Protection and Enhancement of the Natural Environment: sets out 
the criteria for the protection and enhancement of the natural environment. 
 
Policy AW10 – Environmental Protection and Public Health: development 
proposals must overcome any harm to public health, the environment or local amenity. 
 
Policy NSA10 – Housing Density: requires residential development to have a net 
residential density of a minimum of 30 dwellings per hectare. 
 
Policy NSA11 – Affordable Housing: developments of 10 residential units or more 
will be required to provide at least 10% affordable housing.  
 
Policy NSA12 – Housing Development within and adjacent to Settlement 
Boundaries: gives criteria for development within settlement boundaries. 
 
Policy NSA 15 –Small Industrial and Business Sites: requires development of 
small industrial and business sites (Use Class B1, B2 & B8) for alternative uses to be 
assessed in accordance with Policy AW11.  
 
Members will be aware that the current LDP’s lifespan was 2011 to 2021 and that it is 
in the process of being reviewed. The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 introduced 
provisions specifying the period to which a plan has effect and providing that it shall 
cease to be the LDP at the end of the specified period. These provisions were 
commenced on 4th January 2016 but do not have retrospective effect. Therefore, the 
provisions do not apply to LDPs adopted prior to this date and plans adopted before 

Tudalen 46



4th January 2016 will remain the LDP for determining planning applications until 
replaced by a further LDP. This was clarified in guidance published by the Minister on 
24th September 2020. Subsequently, Members are advised that the existing Plan 
remains the development plan for consideration when determining this planning 
application. 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 
Design and Placemaking 
Affordable Housing 
Nature Conservation 
Planning Obligations 
Access Circulation and Parking 
Development of Flats 
Employment Skills 
 
National Guidance 
 
In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics.  
 
Planning Policy Wales Edition 12 (PPW) was issued on 7th February 2024 in 
conjunction with Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 (FW2040). PPW incorporates 
the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act into town and 
country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) policy on planning issues 
relevant to the determination of all planning applications. FW2040 sets out the National 
Development Framework for Wales (NDF), WGs current position on planning policy at 
regional and national level.  
 
It is considered that the proposed development is consistent with the key principles 
and requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 
its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments.  
 
It is also considered the proposed development is compliant with the NDF, with the 
following policies being relevant to the development proposed:  
 

• Policy 1 – Where Wales will grow – Employment/Housing/Infrastructure 
• Policy 2 – Shaping Urban Growth – Sustainability/Placemaking 
• Policy 9 – Resilient Ecological Networks – green infrastructure/ecology 

 
Other relevant policy guidance consulted: 
 
PPW Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and Affordable Housing; 
PPW Technical Advice Note 5: Nature Conservation and Planning; 
PPW Technical Advice Note 12: Design; 

Tudalen 47



PPW Technical Advice Note 18: Transport;; 
Manual for Streets 
 
REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 
be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Furthermore, applications that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan 
should not be allowed, unless material considerations justify the grant of planning 
permission.  
 
Main Issues: 
 
Application Background and History 
 
This application seeks full planning permission for the construction of 8 no. residential 
units on a parcel of land which is currently occupied by a former school building. The 
site was subject to an earlier outline permission for 5 no. detached dwellings (Planning 
ref. 19/1278/13) which was granted by the Planning and Development Committee in 
2021, and the subsequent reserved matters application pursuant to the outline consent 
has also recently been approved.  
 
The main differences between the two developments are primarily the number of units 
proposed and the scale/design of the proposed dwellings. The consented scheme is 
for 5 no. ‘executive’ style, detached dwellings with three fronting Merthyr Road and 
two fronting Corner House Street, whereas the current scheme proposes a total of 8 
no. dwellings that would be arranged in a ‘terrace’ fronting Merthyr Road and a 
separate semi-detached pair fronting Corner House Street. Members will also note 
that this current scheme would be 100% social housing.  
 
Principle of the Proposed Development 
 
As indicated above, the application site already benefits from an extant consent for the 
construction of 5 no. detached dwellings. As such, the principle of developing the site 
for residential purposes has already been established.  
 
The site is situated within settlement limits and within an established built-up area that 
is predominantly residential in character. The area benefits from key local services, 
which includes a primary school and a shop, and a bus stop is located in close 
proximity of the site, although it is noted that services appear to be limited to an hourly 
service which ceases around 18:45. Notwithstanding this, the service provides 
transport to the Principal Town of Aberdare and the nearby town Merthyr Tydfil, both 
of which provides onward travel to the wider area by bus or train. Furthermore, the site 
and its surrounding area is also conducive to travel on foot and bicycle, which together 
the above-mentioned services, would mean that the area can be considered a 
sustainable location. 
 

Tudalen 48



It is noted that a number of objectors raise concern that the development is not 
compatible with the existing uses in the area however, the development proposes 8 
no. residential dwellings in an area which is almost entirely characterised by residential 
properties. As such, there would be no conflict of use and, taking all of the above into 
consideration, the proposed development complies with the main sustainability 
objectives of Policy AW2 of the Rhondda Cynon Taff Local Development Plan. 
 
Furthermore, the proposal is considered to be in line with Policies AW1 and NSA12 
which both seek to direct residential development to areas and sites within settlement 
boundaries, although Policy NSA12 further stipulates that developments will only be 
permitted where they would not adversely affect the highway network or provision of 
parking in the surrounding area. Whilst it is noted that residents consider the 
development would have an adverse impact in this regard, the Council’s Highways 
and Transportation section have not raised any objection to the proposal. This is 
discussed in greater detail in the Access and Highway Safety section below. 
 
The development would also comply with Policy CS1 which promotes high-quality, 
affordable accommodation that would promote diversity in the residential market. The 
proposal includes two and three bed properties as well as one bed flats which have 
been designed in dialogue with the Council’s Housing Strategy Team to help address 
the need for additional affordable housing within the Llwydcoed area. Comments from 
the Housing Strategy Team indicate that the unit mix and tenure proposed are in 
accordance with the Local Housing Market Assessment 2022/37. As such, whilst a 
number of objectors consider that there is no need for any affordable housing in the 
area, this is clearly not the case.  
 
The site is most recently known to have been in use in the B1 use class and it is 
therefore considered to be a small business site. Policy NSA15 requires proposals for 
the development of small business sites (Use Classes B1, B2 & B8) for alternative 
uses to be in accordance with Policy AW11 however, this need not be applied if there 
is an overriding reason that would outweigh the loss of a small business site, i.e. the 
continued use of the premises for business purposes would cause undue disturbance 
to residential neighbours; or where access to the site does not meet an acceptable 
safety standard.  
 
In the case of this application, the site is located at the junction between Merthyr Road 
and Corner House Street with the existing building being situated immediately 
adjacent to the north-western (Merthyr Road) and north-eastern (Corner House Street) 
boundaries. This causes visibility issues when exiting Corner House Street onto 
Merthyr Road and this, along with the lack of pedestrian footpath provision on the 
development side of Corner House Street, raise significant cause for concern in terms 
of highway safety. This concern is intensified by the fact that both Merthyr Road and 
Corner House Street and the connecting junction are well-used (and often at high 
speeds) with traffic traveling from the A465 Heads of the Valleys road to Aberdare and 
due to the location of Llwydcoed Primary School at the end of Corner House Street.  
 
The proposal would result in the demolition of the existing building and the plans 
indicate that the site boundary would be set back to provide an improved vision splay 
at the junction and a pedestrian footway along Corner House Street. This would 
inevitably result in an improvement to what is clearly a sub-standard and well-used 

Tudalen 49



junction and, given that no objection has been raised by the Council’s Highways and 
Transportation section in this regard, it is therefore considered that the application 
would comply with Policy NSA15. 
 
Consequently, given the recent history of the site and its sustainable location, the 
principle of developing the site for 8 no. residential (affordable) units is considered 
acceptable, subject to an assessment of the criteria set out in the subsequent sections 
below.  
 
Access and Highway Safety 
 
A total of 18 residents have come forward with objections in relation to this proposal, 
all of which raise highway-related concerns. Whilst the concerns and objections are 
noted, the application has been assessed by the Council’s Highways and 
Transportation Section and no objection has been raised in this regard. The comments 
received are summarised as follows: 
 
Access  
 
Merthyr Road has a carriageway width of 6.8m with 1.8m footways which is acceptable 
for safe vehicular and pedestrian movement. Corner House Street however, is sub-
standard in terms of its junction radii and vision splay, and it is also lacking in 
continuous footway links which raises major cause for concern.  
 
The application proposes to widen the carriageway to 4.8m which would enable safe 
two-way vehicular movement with 1.8m wide footways being provided for safe 
pedestrian movement. The junction radii would also be improved to 5.5m and the site 
boundary would be set back to provide a vision splay of 2.4m x 22m which is in 
accordance with the requirements for a 20mph road.  
 
The development would result in limited additional traffic using Corner House Street 
(generated by two dwellings – plots 7 & 8) and with the improvements proposed which 
would benefit of all residents in terms of improving highway and pedestrian safety, the 
proposal is considered acceptable in this regard. A condition is recommended to 
secure full engineering design and details which has been added accordingly.  
 
It is noted that plots 7 & 8 will result in reversing movements to and from Corner House 
Street however, this is typical of an unclassified residential street with limited additional 
traffic to that of the existing dwellings with similar car parking layouts along Corner 
House Street. As such, this does not raise significant enough concern to warrant a 
highway objection. 
 
There are no concerns with regards to the capacity on the existing highway network 
given that planning permission has been granted for a development of 5 no. dwellings 
on the site. This proposal increases the number of units to 3 no. 1 bed units to that 
which has previously been agreed, which is not considered to be a significant increase.  
 
Parking  
 

Tudalen 50



The proposed dwellings would require the following parking provision to ensure 
compliance with the Council’s Supplementary Planning Guidance - Access, 
Circulation and Parking: 
 

• 4 no. 1 bed flats: 4 spaces (1 per unit) 
• 2 no. 2 bed houses: 4 spaces (2 per house) 
• 2 no. 3 bed houses: 6 spaces (3 per house) 

 
The proposal provides for the following: 
 

• 1 bed flats: 1 space per flat 
• 2 bed houses: 2 spaces per house 
• 3 bed houses: 2 spaces per house 

 
The proposed parking provision for the 1 bed flats and 2 bed houses meets the 
requirements of the SPG, however, it is noted that the parking provision for the 3 bed 
houses is slightly below that recommended. Taking into account that the parking 
provision set out within the SPG are maximum standards, that the 3 bed houses are 
relatively small with the third room being a box (single) room, that secure cycle storage 
has been provided for all units and that the proposal is for social houses which 
generally has less car parking requirement and vehicular trips to that of a privately 
owned dwellings, the proposed off-street car parking provision is considered 
acceptable.  
 
Whilst the proposal requires up-to a maximum of 2 no. visitor spaces, there is potential 
for short-term visitor parking to take place within the parking area on Merthyr Road 
and occasional on-street short-term parking.  
 
Cycle Parking 
 
Each unit has a secure cycle stand within the rear gardens to promote sustainable 
modes of transport with less reliance placed on the private motor vehicle.  
 
On-street Car Parking Demand 
 
Some concern is raised with regards to the existing high on-street car parking demand 
generated by the existing business use in the vicinity of the site blocking sight lines on 
Merthyr Road however, due to the additional access points from Merthyr Road, on-
street car parking at this location would be restricted without causing obstruction. 
Furthermore, the proposed development complies with the Council’s SPG for 
residential off-street car parking and will therefore not contribute to the existing high 
on-street parking demand within the vicinity. 
 
In light of the comments received from the Council’s Highways Officer, the proposal 
complies with the parking requirements set within the SPG with vehicles having the 
ability to turn and exit onto Merthyr Road in a forward gear. Furthermore, the proposal 
would improve the junction radii and vision splay at the junction between Merthyr Road 
and Cornerhouse Street and also the standard of the road at Corner House Street with 
the road being widened and a footway being provided in front of the site. As such, with 
the lack of a highway objection, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms 

Tudalen 51



of the impact it would have upon highway and pedestrian safety in the vicinity of the 
site and the application would therefore comply with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda 
Cynon Taf Local Development Plan in this regard. 
 
Character and Appearance  
 
The application site relates to a rectangular shaped parcel of land which has a direct 
relationship with both Merthyr Road to the north-west and Corner House Street to the 
north-east. The proposal to develop the site with properties addressing both highways 
is therefore considered acceptable.  
 
The dwellings would be arranged in two blocks, one forming a link of 4 no. units (2 no. 
units being sub-divided into two flats each) and the other forming a semi-detached 
pair.  Whilst a number of objections have been received from local residents which 
raise concern that this would not be in-keeping with the surrounding area, it is noted 
from an assessment of the immediate and wider locality that existing properties vary 
greatly in terms of their scale and design with larger-than-average detached and 
smaller terraced/semi-detached properties visible in both Merthyr Road and Corner 
House Street, and within the wider area. As such, the scale of the dwellings and the 
layout of the site would not appear at odds with the surrounding area. Furthermore, 
and as with the majority of existing properties in the surrounding area, the proposed 
dwellings would be set back from both Merthyr Road and Corner House Street, which 
would help to ensure that the open nature of the streets would be retained. They would 
also incorporate traditional pitched roof designs which would be in-keeping with the 
pitched roof designs visible in the immediate vicinity. The proposed dwellings fronting 
onto Merthyr Road (plots 1-6) would also be designed to reflect the gradual slope of 
Merthyr Road and the ‘stepping down’ of other properties in the area and, as such, it 
is considered that the general layout and design of the proposed scheme is in context 
with the existing pattern of development visible in the surrounding area. Furthermore, 
there is a great mix of finishing materials visible in the immediate and wider area and 
it is not considered that the proposed materials of facing brickwork and/or render and 
slate roof tiles would adversely affect the character of the area.  
 
Whilst a number of objections suggest that the development would result in 
overdevelopment of the plot, the proposed site layout plan demonstrates that sufficient 
space is retained around the proposed properties to allow for sufficient off-street car 
parking and outdoor amenity space for each unit. As mentioned above, the properties 
are set back from their respective highways which would retain the open feel of the 
relevant street scenes, and which would allow for a comprehensive landscaping 
scheme to be implemented to ensure that the development integrates well within its 
setting. 
 
Residents raise further concern that the development would provide a significantly 
greater residential density to that stipulated in Policy NSA10 however, it must be noted 
that that policy sets a minimum requirement of 30 dwellings per hectare and a greater 
density could therefore be considered acceptable. Whilst it is noted that the proposal 
would provide for a net residential density of approximately 61.5 dwellings per hectare 
which is double that stipulated in the policy, as indicated above, it is not considered 
that the development would be out of context with the character of the surrounding 
area, particularly when taking into account the terraced design of numerous properties 

Tudalen 52



in the immediate vicinity which inevitably have a similar density to that proposed. 
Indeed, it is noted that the net residential density of the properties immediately to the 
north-east of the site on Merthyr Road (from the former Corner House Inn to no. 14. 
Merthyr Road) is approximately 69 dwellings per hectare which is greater than the 
density proposed in the current scheme. As such, the proposed density is considered 
to be acceptable in terms of Policy NSA10 and it is not considered that it would detract 
from the character and appearance of the surrounding area. Furthermore, it is 
considered that the development provides for efficient use of the land available.  
 
One objection indicates that there are no flats in the surrounding area and whilst that 
might be the case, it does not necessarily mean that the provision of flats in the area 
would not be acceptable. As indicated above, the proposed flats would be contained 
within two units which would be of a two-storey scale and which would largely have 
the appearance of a standard residential unit, albeit with the provision of two entrance 
doors within the front elevation. The provision of two doors within the front elevation, 
whilst different to the general layout/appearance of other properties in the area, would 
not be sufficient to warrant the refusal of the application.  
 
Whilst it is noted that the existing building is of some architectural/historical merit and 
its demolition would indeed be regrettable, the building is not a Listed Building, and it 
could potentially be demolished regardless of the outcome of this application (subject 
to the necessary submission of a prior approval application and prior to obtaining any 
necessary licence, e.g., European Protected Species Licence).  Furthermore, the 
previous outline application also included the demolition of the building, which was 
approved subject to an appropriate historic building survey being carried out (condition 
imposed on the outline consent, as requested by Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological 
Trust). The same condition would be appropriate in this case.  
 
A number of objections also refer to the proposed boundary treatments, suggesting 
that those proposed are inappropriate and out of keeping with the surrounding area. 
The proposal seeks to utilise 1.8m high close board fencing to denote the boundaries 
between properties and between plots 5 & 6 and the road on Corner House Street and 
this is considered acceptable, given the residential nature of the area. The site is 
currently bound by a green palisade fence to the north-eastern boundary (onto Corner 
House Street), which extends to the full length of the boundary and the proposal to 
replace this with close board timber fencing for a reduced length would be a betterment 
to the current arrangement, with this being more appropriate to the residential 
character of the area. Furthermore, the same materials were proposed to be used in 
a similar manner in the recently approved reserved matters application, to which 
residents did not raise any objection.  
 
As such, in light of the above assessment, whilst the development would undoubtedly 
change the character and appearance of the site, the resulting development is 
considered to be appropriate and in context with the existing pattern of development 
and it would therefore have no adverse impact upon the character and appearance of 
the surrounding area. The application would therefore comply with Policies AW5 and 
AW6 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.  
 
Residential Amenity and Privacy 
 

Tudalen 53



Existing Residents  
 
It is noted that a number of residents have raised concern with regards to the impact 
of the development upon the amenity and privacy of existing properties in the 
surrounding area. The concerns raised suggest that the development would result in 
overlooking towards existing properties on Merthyr Road with additional on-street 
activity and noise from extra vehicles being a disturbance to existing residents.  
 
Whilst the proposed dwellings would face toward a number of existing properties on 
Merthyr Road and Corner House Street, the separation distance between habitable 
windows of existing and proposed properties on Merthyr Road would be in excess of 
25m, which is more than adequate to ensure that no adverse levels of overlooking 
would occur. Whilst the separation distance is somewhat reduced between habitable 
windows of existing and proposed dwellings on Corner House Street (16.5m), the 
relationship is similar to that between existing properties in the area and is therefore 
considered acceptable.  
 
Furthermore, the proposed separation distances would ensure that the development 
would not result in any adverse levels of overshadowing or loss of outlook. 
 
It is noted that some letters of objection raise concern that the development would 
result in additional on-street activity and noise from extra vehicles which would cause 
disturbance to existing residents however, the proposed development is residential in 
nature with any noise being equivalent to the noise created by existing dwellings. It 
must also be noted that the existing building was most recently in commercial use 
which would, if re-instated, has the potential to create far more noise and disturbance 
to residents than that of a small-scale residential development. Whilst further concern 
has been raised with regards to air quality, the development is considered to be of a 
minor scale which would not result in significant numbers of vehicles.  
 
Future Residents of the Development  
 
As indicated above, sufficient distance would be maintained between existing and 
proposed dwellings to ensure that no adverse levels of overlooking between properties 
would occur. Furthermore, whilst the rear elevations and gardens of plots 1-6 would 
experience some degree of overshadowing as a result of the positioning of plots 7 & 
8, it is not considered that this would be so significant that it would warrant the refusal 
of the application. Plots 7 & 8 would be situated at a slightly higher ground level to 
plots 1-6 however, this would not be to such a degree that it would result in an adverse 
overbearing impact.  
 
Furthermore, the proposed flats are considered to comply with the Council’s SPG on 
the Development of Flats in terms of the quality of accommodation proposed. The flats 
are all considered to be of a suitable size, providing enough space for future residents 
to undertake daily tasks. Each flat would have its own access to the front of the 
property which would ensure that the accesses are overlooked by the public realm, 
and all habitable rooms would have sufficient windows which would provide a 
reasonable outlook and for a reasonable levels of natural daylighting and ventilation. 
The flats would also have access to communal outdoor space which would facilitate 
clothes-drying facilities and storage areas for bins and bikes. Furthermore, the units 

Tudalen 54



would be provided as affordable units which would be required to comply with Design 
Quality Requirements.  
 
In light of the above, the proposal is considered to be acceptable in terms of the impact 
it would have upon the amenity and privacy of both existing residents and potential 
future occupiers of the proposed development. The application would therefore comply 
with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan in this regard.  
 
Other Issues: 
 
The following other material considerations have been taken into account in 
considering the application, though were not the key determining factors in reaching 
the recommendation. 
 
Drainage 
 
The application relates to the construction of more than one dwellings and under, 
Schedule 3 of the Flood and Water Management Act 2010, a separate application will 
need to be submitted to the Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs) Approval Body 
(SAB) for sustainable drainage approval. Furthermore, the development will be 
required to comply with Part H of the Building Regulations.  
 
The application has been reviewed by the Council’s Flood Risk Management team 
and it has been revealed that there is low surface water flood risk northwest of the site, 
along B4276 Merthyr Road, from accumulation and the conveyance route down 
Merthyr Road. 
 
Details submitted with the application indicates that surface water will be disposed of 
using a Sustainable Drainage System however, the Flood Risk Management Officer 
notes that no details have been submitted for review. It is therefore recommended that 
a drainage condition be imposed upon any grant of planning consent. A further 
condition is recommended by Welsh Water to ensure that no surface water and/or land 
drainage is to connect to the public sewerage network. 
 
Whilst these recommended conditions are noted, the proposed development would be 
subject to a SUDS consenting regime and the recommended conditions in this regard 
are therefore not necessary.   
 
Ecology 
 
The application is supported by a Bat Survey which confirms that the building is being 
used as a bat roost by both Brown Long Eared Bats and Soprano Pipistrelles. The 
developer will therefore be required to obtain an EPS Licence prior to any works to 
demolish the building commence.   
 
The proposed development includes a series of mitigation measures, including the 
provision of a stand-alone bat roost building within the rear garden of plot 8 and the 
provision of a bat box on the side elevation plots 1 and 8. Further House Sparrow and 
Swift boxes are also proposed on the side elevations of plots 1, 5/6 & 7.  
 

Tudalen 55



The details have been reviewed by both the Council’s Ecologist and NRW, neither of 
which raise any significant concern with regards to the proposal. However, it is 
recommended that a condition to secure detail of an existing lighting plan be imposed 
upon any grant of planning consent. A S106 agreement to secure the long-term 
management and maintenance of the bat roost building is also required.  
 
In light of the comments received from NRW and the Council’s Ecologist, the proposal 
is considered to provide sufficient and appropriate mitigation measures to mitigate 
against the loss of the existing bat roost and, subject to the recommended condition 
and S106 agreement, the proposal would comply with Policy AW8 of the Rhondda 
Cynon Taf Development Plan.  
 
Land Contamination  
 
The Council’s Public Health and Protection team have indicated that the site was 
previously occupied by a printing business and they therefore considered that there is 
potential for contamination to existing on site. As such, standard contaminated land 
conditions are recommended.  
 
Listed Building  
 
The application site lies immediately to the north-east of a Memorial Park which 
contains a Listed War Memorial. Consultation has been undertaken with Cadw 
however, no response had been received at the time of writing this report.  
 
The Memorial is set within the grounds of the park and given the relationship between 
the site and the memorial, and the line of trees that lie along the common boundary 
that are to be retained, it is not considered that the proposal would have an adverse 
impact upon either the Listed Building itself, or its immediate wider setting.  
 
Trees 
 
As indicated above, the south-western boundary of the site is lined by a number of 
mature trees which are set within the adjacent Memorial Park. The application is 
supported by an Arboricultural Report which confirms that no trees are required to be 
removed to facilitate the proposed development and a root protection area has been 
set out to ensure that any potential damage to the trees is appropriately managed. The 
report indicates that with the retention of the boundary fencing, an arboricultural 
watching brief for excavation works/hard surface removal and low impact foundation 
designs within the root protection area will ensure no significant long-term adverse 
impact to any of the retained trees. It further confirms that the overall design of the 
proposal has considered the size and value of the trees to minimise any future 
pressures to heavily prune or fell the higher value trees, and it is concluded that 
compliance with the tree protection scheme detailed in section 6 of the report will 
ensure that no significant long-term adverse arboricultural impact will occur on the 
health of any retained trees adjacent to the site, or the long-term amenity of the area. 
 
Other Issues Raised by Objectors 
 
Tenure and Need for Development 

Tudalen 56



 
The vast majority of objections received raise concerns with regards to the tenure of 
the proposed dwellings given that the development would be 100% affordable and 
given that it would also incorporate 4 no. self-contained flats. Any concern relating to 
the matter of tenure, whether a new property is to be owner-occupied or rented and 
regardless of the owner, landlord or the background of any potential occupier is not 
material to a planning decision. The properties would fall within Use Class C3, which 
is the same as any other dwelling bought and occupied by an individual or family. 
Whilst one objector provides some comparison of crime rates between areas with 
known affordable units with areas known to have none or few, it would be the 
responsibility of the Registered Social Landlord to appropriately manage any potential 
issues that might arise. Furthermore, South Wales Police have not objected to the 
proposal and has provided observations and recommendations based on the current 
crime profile for the area in order for application to achieve the Secured by Design 
(SBD) Gold Award, which would be required for all grant-funded social housing in 
Wales. The comments received indicate that SBD housing developments experience 
87% less burglary, 25% less crime and 25% less criminal damage, and they also have 
a significant impact on anti-social behaviour.  
 
Residents further believe that there is no requirement for social housing in the 
Llwydcoed area however, as mentioned above, the scheme has been designed in 
dialogue with the Council’s Housing Strategy Team to help address the need for 
affordable housing within the Llwydcoed area with the unit mix and tenure proposed 
being in accordance with the Local Housing Market Assessment 2022/37.  
 
It is further noted that residents raise concern that the development would set a 
precedent for further affordable housing in the area. Whilst this is noted, as set out 
above, there is a clear need for affordable housing in the local and wider area, and 
any future application for further housing, affordable or not, will be considered on its 
own individual merit.  
 
One letter also suggests that a number of recent applications for residential 
development have not been required to provide for any affordable housing and it is not 
understood why this development now includes 100% affordable housing. Policy 
NSA11 requires proposals for residential development to provide at least 10% 
affordable housing on sites of ten units or more. The most recent applications for 
residential development in the Llwydcoed area have not met the 10-unit threshold for 
affordable housing to be provided. In this case, it is noted that only 8 units are 
proposed however, that is not to say that the development should not contain any 
affordable housing.  
 
Property Values 
 
A number of objectors have raised concern that the proposed development would 
impact upon property values in the area. However, this is not a matter that is material 
to planning.  
 
Previous Permission 
 

Tudalen 57



It is noted that residents would prefer to see the previous permission for 5 no. private 
dwellings being implemented however, this application must be considered on its own 
merit, and should Members resolve to approve the application, it would be up to the 
developer to determine which scheme to develop.  
 
Construction Noise and Disturbance and property damage 
 
A number of objectors raise concern that the construction phase of the development 
would result in significant noise and disturbance to surrounding residents and whilst 
this is noted, no development would ever be implemented if concerns of noise and 
disturbance were used as reasons to refuse permission. It is accepted that the 
development would result in some degree of noise and disturbance however, this 
would be for a temporary time period only and would not be reason to refuse planning 
permission. Furthermore, there is separate Environmental Health legislation available, 
if such activities became a statutory nuisance.  
 
In terms of the boundary wall adjacent to no. 6, the plans indicate that this would be 
retained. The developer would need to enter into a private Party Wall agreement with 
the neighbour should any works be required to the wall. Furthermore, any damage 
done to this or any other property during construction would be a private matter 
between the developer and neighbouring occupiers. 
 
Local Resources 
 
A number of objectors raise concern with regards to the impact the development would 
have on local services and whilst this is noted, it is not an issue that is unique to the 
Llwydcoed area and the same applies to areas where little or no development has 
taken place. Indeed, the development is of a minor scale with just 8 no. units proposed 
and, given that consultation on the Local Development Plan was undertaken on the 
basis of there being a total dwelling supply over the plan period of between 14,936 to 
15,386 new units, whereas the number that has been delivered is far lower, this 
scheme of 8 no. units is a very small proportion of that larger housing requirement.  
 
Other Suggested Uses 
 
It is noted that a number of objectors make suggestions for the retention of the existing 
building and potential community uses for it. Whilst these suggestions are noted, the 
Council must consider every application that comes forward on its own individual merit 
and it is therefore outside of the parameters of the planning system to influence where 
development is proposed, or indeed the type of development that comes forward. As 
such, the proposal will be considered on the basis of the information submitted.  
 
National Sustainable Placemaking Outcomes 
 
Chapter 2 of PPW12 emphasises that development proposals should demonstrate 
sustainable placemaking, to ensure that the right development is achieved in the right 
place, and states that development proposals should be assessed against the national 
sustainable placemaking outcomes. 
 

Tudalen 58



PPW acknowledges that not every development proposal will be able to demonstrate 
that they can meet all of the outcomes, or that it can be proved that an attribute of a 
proposal will necessarily result in a particular outcome. 
 
It is also recognised that the interpretation of the relevant criteria will depend upon the 
detail and context of the proposal and the application site, and in the planning balance, 
that greater material weight may be given to some attributes rather than others. 
 
Therefore, in addition to consideration of the placemaking merits of the scheme within 
the sections of the report further above, the proposed development is considered to 
relate in particular to the following aspects of the national sustainable placemaking 
outcomes: 
 

• Creating and Sustaining Communities: The development density is appropriate 
for this location and as a social housing scheme would contribute to the 
affordable housing requirement within the Northern Strategy Area. 

• Making Best Use of Resources: The development accords with the local and 
national policy aims to prioritise the use of previously developed land and 
buildings. 

• Growing Our Economy in a Sustainable Manner: The development would have 
a small but positive effect in terms of construction jobs. 

• Maximising Environmental Protection: The development would be expected to 
provide for biodiversity enhancement measures with regard to bats and nesting 
birds. 

• Facilitating Accessible and Healthy Environments: The application site is in a 
sustainable location, being close to a bus route and services and facilities 
located within walking distance. The development would therefore not be 
entirely car dependent. 
 

In respect of the other national outcomes listed the development would be considered 
to have a neutral impact. 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014. 
 
The application is for development of a kind that is liable for a charge under the CIL 
Regulations 2010 as amended however, the application lies within Zone 1 of Rhondda 
Cynon Taf’s Residential Charging Zones, where a nil charge is applicable and 
therefore no CIL is payable. 

Section 106 Contributions / Planning Obligations  
 
Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act (as amended) enables Local 
Planning Authorities and developers to agree to planning obligations to require 
operations or activities to be carried out on land (in-kind obligations) or require 
payments to be made (financial contributions), to mitigate any unacceptable impacts 
of development proposals. 
 

Tudalen 59



The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2010, with effect from 6 April 
2010, state that a planning obligation (under S.106) may only legally constitute a 
reason for granting planning permission if it is: 
 

1. necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms; 
2. directly related to the development; and, 
3. fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. 

 
The Welsh Government Development Management Manual and Welsh Office Circular 
13/97 Planning Obligations provide procedural guidance on the role of planning 
obligations in mitigating the site-specific impacts of unacceptable development to 
make it acceptable in planning terms. The Welsh Government Development 
Management Manual also advises planning obligations should only be used where it 
is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition and 
when it meets the three tests above.   Further guidance regarding what types of 
obligations developers may be expected to contribute towards is also contained within 
Policy AW4 of the Local Development Plan and the Council's SPG on Planning 
Obligations, however it is made clear that this is intended to form the basis of 
negotiations between all parties.  
 
The Section 106 requirements in this case 
 

1. The developer will be required to enter into a S106 agree to ensure the long-
term maintenance and management of the proposed standalone bat roost 
building at plot 8. The details to be secured should include the following: 

a) Detail the monitoring, management and maintenance of the bat 
house (which are to be agreed). 

b) Secure the implementation of (a) above. 
c) Detail the tenure of the bat house. 
d) Provide details of the financial measures to secure implementation 

of the above. 
e) Secure drawings setting out areas to be covered by the long-term 

obligation. 
 

2. The development would provide 100% affordable housing, which would accord 
with Policy NSA11 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. These 
would need to be secured via a S106 agreement to ensure that the dwellings 
are established and maintained as affordable units, for the continued purpose 
of meeting identified local housing needs.  

 
Conclusion 
 
The proposed development and residential use of the site is considered acceptable in 
principle. The layout of the site and the scale, design and overall visual appearance of 
the proposed dwellings are considered acceptable in the context of the surrounding 
area and, it is further considered that the development would have no adverse impact 
upon the amenity and privacy of neighbouring properties. Furthermore, the 
development would provide a betterment in terms of highway safety with a number of 
improvements being made to the junction and road at Corner House Stret.  
 

Tudalen 60



RECOMMENDATION: Approve, subject to S106 Agreement and Conditions 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

five years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  To comply with Sections 91 and 93 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and documents received by the Local Planning Authority 
on 22nd December 2023, 8th January 2024, 12th February 2024 and 5th 
March 2024, unless otherwise to be approved and superseded by details 
required by any other condition attached to this consent: 

 
• Site Location Plan 
• Drawing No. 2251-20E: Proposed Site Plan 
• Drawing No. 2251-21: Plots 1-6 (Floor Plans) 
• Drawing No. 2251-23: Plots 7-8 (Floor Plans) 
• Drawing No. 2251-24: Plots 7 -8 (Elevations) 
• Drawing No. 2251-25: Plots 1-6 (Elevations) 
• Drawing No. 2251-25A:  Bat Roost 
• Drawing No. 2251-26: Bin and Cycle Store 
• Soft Landscaping Proposals  
• Green Infrastructure Survey 

 
Reason: To ensure compliance with the approved plans and documents and 
to clearly define the scope of the permission. 
 

3. Before the development is brought into use, the means of access, together 
with the parking and turning facilities shall be laid out in accordance with the 
submitted plan ref. 2251-20 REV E and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The car parking spaces and turning shall remain for the parking 
and turning of vehicles in association with the proposed thereafter. 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, to ensure that vehicles are parked 
off the highway, in accordance with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan.  

4. Notwithstanding the approved plans, building operations shall not be 
commenced until full engineering design and details of the works to widen 
existing highway, new footway, vehicular crossovers, vision splay, junction 
radii, relocation of service pole and surface water drainage details have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
implemented prior to the beneficial occupation of the first dwelling. 

Reason: To ensure the adequacy of the proposed development, in the 
interests of highway and pedestrian safety, in accordance with Policy AW5 
of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

Tudalen 61



5. Building operations shall not be commenced until a Construction Method 
Statement has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority to provide for: 

a) The means of access into the site for all construction traffic, 
b) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors, 
c) The management of vehicular and pedestrian traffic, 
d) Loading and unloading of plant and materials, 
e) Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development, 
f) Wheel cleansing facilities, 
g) The sheeting of lorries leaving the site. 

 
The approved Construction Method Statement shall be adhered to 
throughout the development process. 

Reason: In the interests of the safety and free flow of traffic, in accordance 
with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

6. Building operations shall not be commenced until details and design 
calculations of any retaining walls abutting the highway have been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. All works shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to beneficial 
occupation of the dwellings.  

Reason: In the interest of highway safety, in accordance with Policy AW5 of 
the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

7. The development shall be carried out in accordance with Section 6: 
Arboricultural Method Statement of the submitted Arboricultural Report (by 
Arboricultural Technician Services Ltd, dated 18th December 2023). 

Reason: To protect the existing trees adjacent to the site and in the interests 
of amenity in accordance with Policies AW5, AW6 and AW8 of the Rhondda 
Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

8. Prior to the installation of any external lighting, full details of an external 
lighting scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The lighting plan shall include: 

• Details of the siting and type of external lighting to be used. 

• Drawings identifying the areas that will be maintained as dark 
corridors and areas for the benefit of bats and bat use of the bat roost.  

• Drawings setting out light spillage in key sensitive areas, or sufficient 
other evidence to demonstrate that that external lighting will not 
adversely affect bat use of the bat roost. 

The lighting scheme shall be installed and retained as approved in perpetuity.  

Tudalen 62



Reason: In the interests of ecology and to afford protection to animal species 
in accordance with Policies AW8 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan. 

9. No works to which this consent relates shall commence until an appropriate 
programme of historic building recording and analysis has been secured and 
implemented in accordance with a written scheme of investigation which has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

Reason: The building is of architectural and cultural significance and the 
specified records are required to mitigate impact, in accordance with Policy 
AW7 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan. 

10. Building operations shall not be commenced until a scheme to deal with 
contamination has been submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The scheme shall include all of the following measures 
unless the Local Planning Authority dispenses with any such requirement 
specifically and in writing: 

1. A desk-top study carried out by a competent person to identify and 
evaluate all potential sources and impacts of contamination relevant 
to the site. The desk top study should contain a conceptual site model. 

 
2. A site investigation shall be carried out by a competent person to fully 

and effectively characterise the nature and extent of any 
contamination and its implications. The site investigation shall not be 
commenced until a desk-top study has been completed satisfying the 
requirements of paragraph (1) above. 

 
3. A written method statement for the remediation of contamination 

affecting the site shall be agreed in writing with the Local Planning 
Authority prior to commencement and all requirements shall be 
implemented and completed to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority by a competent person. No deviation shall be made from this 
scheme without the express written agreement of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity and 
so as to accord with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan 
 

11. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied and/or operated 
until the measures approved in the scheme (referred to in condition 10 above) 
have been implemented and a suitable validation report of the proposed 
scheme has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Any validation report shall be carried out by a competent person.  

Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity and 
so as to accord with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan. 

Tudalen 63



12. If during development works any contamination should be encountered which 
was not previously identified and is derived from a different source and/or of 
a different type to those included in the contamination proposals, then work 
shall cease and revised contamination proposals shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the work 
recommencing. Any revised contamination proposals shall be carried out by 
a competent person.  

Reason: In the interest of health and safety and environmental amenity and 
so as to accord with Policy AW10 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan. 

13. All planting, seeding or turfing in the approved details of landscaping shall be 
carried out in the first planting and seeding season following the occupation 
of the building(s) or completion of the development, whichever is the sooner, 
and any trees or plants which within a period of five years from the completion 
of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar 
size and species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent 
to any variation. 

Reason: To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 
interests of amenity in accordance with Policies AW5 and AW6 of the 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.  

 
14. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 

the bat and nesting bird mitigation measures identified in the approved plans 
(as those listed in Condition 2 above), unless otherwise agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of ecology and to afford protection to animal species 
in accordance with Policy AW8 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan. 

15. Building operations shall not be commenced until a scheme to enable the 
provision of gigabit capable broadband infrastructure from the site boundary 
to the dwellings hereby permitted has been submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  
 
Reason: To support the roll-out of digital communications infrastructure 
across Wales in accordance with Policy 13 of Future Wales. 

 
 

Tudalen 64



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

21 March 2024 
 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 
Members are asked to determine the planning application outlined below: 

APPLICATION NO: 24/0017/10             (HB) 
APPLICANT: Mr D Cummings 
DEVELOPMENT: Single storey and two storey extension 
LOCATION: 20 PINEWALK DRIVE, GLYNFACH, PORTH, CF39 

9NL 
DATE REGISTERED: 05/01/2024 
ELECTORAL DIVISION: Cymer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: Approve, subject to conditions 
 
REASONS: The development would provide improved living conditions at the 
dwelling for its occupants. While it is accepted the works would result in a 
degree of impact to the amenity standards currently enjoyed by the adjacent 
properties, it is not considered any potential impact would be significant enough 
to warrant refusal of the application. Furthermore, it is not considered the 
development would have any significant impact upon the character and 
appearance of the site or surrounding area. 
 
REASON APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE  
 
Three or more letters of objection have been received from occupiers of adjacent 
neighbouring properties.  
 
APPLICATION DETAILS 
 
Members are advised the application is a resubmission of a previously refused 
application that sought a similar scheme, ref. 23/1222/10.  The previous application 
was refused because it was considered the development would result in an 
unacceptable detrimental impact to the amenity standards of the adjacent properties.  
Specifically, the previous application was refused due to the views from the side 
elevation first floor windows which would have resulted in an unacceptable level of 
overlooking.  In an attempt to overcome the previous concerns this resubmission 
seeks an extension of the same scale and height as that previously proposed, but with 
the first-floor bedroom window being of a smaller scale and opaque glazed and the 
first-floor bathroom window placement now sited facing forward and not on the side 
elevation.   
 
Specifically, the current scheme proposes full planning permission for a two-storey 
extension and single storey extension to the rear and side of 20 Pinewalk Drive.  The 
proposal is as follows:  

Tudalen 65

Agendwm 8



 
• The ground floor aspect would be set in from the northwest side elevation 

boundary by 0.15m and would have a width of 7.3m.  The depth would be 4m 
from the existing rear elevation and would also connect to the existing 
integrated garage and have a 1.8m section with a maximum depth of 5m.  The 
first-floor would be set in from the northwest curtilage boundary by 1.4m with a 
maximum width of 6.05m.  The first-floor aspect is slightly shallower in depth 
and extends past the existing rear elevation by 3.5m and would also build above 
the existing garage providing a 1.8m section with a maximum depth of 4.5m.  
The extension would have a flat roof with a height of 5.9m. 

 
The side elevation of the extension would be a minimum of 1m and maximum of 2.2m 
from the side curtilage boundary with the neighbour, 21 Pinewalk Drive.  Internal 
modifications are also proposed including an obscure glazed side elevation bedroom 
window to the existing dwelling, front elevation bathroom window to the new habitable 
space, rear windows and ground floor windows and access doors to the rear amenity 
space.  
 
External materials include brickwork and external walls to match the existing and white 
UPVC windows, doors and fascia’s.  
 
SITE APPRAISAL 
 
The application property is a semi-detached house, attached on its northwest 
elevation, located within a residential area to the south of Porth and east of Cymmer.  
The dwelling occupies a prominent position within the area occupying a plot close to 
the junction of Pinewalk Drive and Glyn Street.  The terrain falls away significantly 
down the street in a north-west direction and increases in height gradually towards the 
dwellings to the east and south-east.  The closest dwelling to south-east is number 21 
Pinewalk Drive which is sat at a higher ground level and has a principal elevation 
facing south, whereby number 20 Pinewalk Drive’s front elevation faces south-west.  
The rear garden of 21 Pinewalk Drive tapers to a point along number 20 Pinewalk 
Drive’s side curtilage boundary.  There is a distance of approximately 2m from the 
existing ground floor garage to the closest corner of 21 Pinewalk Drive.  To the rear is 
a flat garden extending approximately 14m and further onwards an open landscape 
view. To the front is an enclosed driveway and access road to Pinewalk Drive. 
 
Although the other dwellings within the cul-de-sac are of the same 1960’s/70’s era, 
many have been subject to extension and modification. 
 
PLANNING HISTORY 
 
23/1222/10, Rear single and two storey extension (Amended plans received 
08/12/2023), Refused, 22/12/2023. 
 
PUBLICITY 
 
The application has been advertised by direct notification to neighbouring properties.  
3 letters of objection have been received.  In summary they include: 

Tudalen 66



• Impact on the character and appearance of the area in terms of scale, 
appearance and remainder of the street. 

• Impact upon the residential amenity of neighbours (overbearing, 
overshadowing, loss of privacy, location of the ground floor external door). 

• The application does not conform to the 45 degree rule. 
• Loss of views.  
• Loss of house value. 
• Concerns over land stability. 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
No consultation has been undertaken.  
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan 
 
Members will be aware that the current LDP’s lifespan was 2011 to 2021, that it has 
been reviewed and is in the process of being replaced. The Planning (Wales) Act 2015 
introduced provisions specifying the period to which a plan has effect and providing 
that it shall cease to be the LDP at the end of the specified period. These provisions 
were commenced on 4th January 2016 but do not have retrospective effect. Therefore, 
the provisions do not apply to LDPs adopted prior to this date and plans adopted 
before 4th January 2016 will remain the LDP for determining planning applications 
until replaced by a further LDP. This was clarified in guidance published by the Minister 
on 24th September 2020. Subsequently, Members are advised that the existing Plan 
remains the development plan for consideration when determining this planning 
application. 
 
The site is within a settlement boundary but is not allocated for any specific purpose. 
 
Policy AW5 - sets out criteria for new development in relation to amenity and 
accessibility. 
Policy AW6 - requires development to involve a high quality design and to make a 
positive contribution to placemaking, including landscaping. 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
 

• Design and Placemaking 
• A Design Guide for Householder Development  

 
National Guidance 
 
In the determination of planning applications regard should also be given to the 
requirements of national planning policy which are not duplicated in the Local 
Development Plan, particularly where national planning policy provides a more up to 
date and comprehensive policy on certain topics.  
 

Tudalen 67



Planning Policy Wales Edition 12 (PPW) was issued on 7th February 2024.  The 
document incorporates the objectives of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act into town and country planning and sets out Welsh Government’s (WG) current 
policy position on planning issues relevant to the determination of all planning 
applications. FW2040 sets out the National Development Framework for Wales (NDF), 
WGs current position on planning policy at regional and national level. The thrust and 
general context of each of the policy documents is aimed at sustainable development. 
 
It is considered the proposed development is consistent with the key principles and 
requirements for placemaking set out in PPW; and is also consistent with the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act’s sustainable development principles through 
its contribution towards the Welsh Ministers’ well-being objectives of driving 
sustainable development and building healthier communities and better environments. 
 
Given the scale of the proposed development and its relationship with only the 
immediate surrounding area, there are limitations to the extent such a scheme can 
have in promoting planning objectives at a national scale. As such, whilst the scheme 
aligns with the overarching sustainable development aims of FW2040, it is not 
considered the policies set out in the document are specifically relevant to this 
application. 
 
Other national policy guidance considered: 
 
PPW Technical Advice Note 12 - Design 
 
REASONS FOR REACHING THE RECOMMENDATION 
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that, if 
regard is to be had to the development plan for the purposes of any determination to 
be made under the Planning Acts, the determination must be made in accordance with 
the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Furthermore, applications that are not in accordance with relevant policies in the plan 
should not be allowed, unless material considerations justify the grant of planning 
permission.  
 
Main Issues: 
 
Principle of the proposed development 
 
The application relates to the extension of an existing residential dwelling within 
settlement limits, to improve living conditions for residents.  The principle of such 
development is considered acceptable. 
 
Impact on residential amenity and privacy 
 
Public comments have been received on the impact upon the amenity of neighbours 
including overbearing to number 21, overshadowing to number 21 and 19, a general 
loss of privacy and a loss of views to the surrounding Valley. 
 

Tudalen 68



While these concerns are acknowledged, it is not considered the extension would have 
a significant overshadowing impact due to the overall orientation of the development, 
the difference in terrain levels and the relationship with neighbouring properties.  
Although the extension would add a mass nearby the rear garden of number 21 
Pinewalk Drive, there is already an element of overshadowing from the existing 
buildings and this is somewhat softened by number 21 Pinewalk Drive being sited at 
a higher ground level.  Further, the extension would be set away from the boundary of 
number 19 reducing any potential impact here. Therefore, it is not considered the 
addition would result in an unacceptable overshadowing impact to the neighbours 
either side.   
 
The objectors make specific reference to the 45 degree rule, however, this is just a 
general guide and not an adopted policy. As such, while it is accepted a degree of 
overshadowing would occur, with the proposal considered acceptable in this respect, 
any impact would not itself be considered a significant enough reason for refusal.   
 
The extension will result in a degree of overbearing due to its overall mass and its 
proposed width which will move the side elevation wall 1.8m closer to number 21 
Pinewalk Drive.  Whilst this will undoubtably have an impact, the first-floor aspect is 
slightly shallower and due to the change in terrain levels the overall impact would be 
mitigated somewhat.  The extension is located away from the boundary of number 19 
Pinewalk Drive and therefore would not have a significant direct overbearing impact 
here.  On this basis, on balance, it is not considered the proposed addition would have 
a significant enough overbearing impact on the neighbours that would warrant a 
refusal on those ground alone.  Further, while it is noted the side elevation wall will 
impact the outlook of number 21 Pinewalk Drive, it is not considered any impact would 
be to unacceptable levels due to the open nature of the rear elevations of neighbours 
and the change in terrain levels.  The views across the Valley will be impinged slightly 
for number 21 Pinewalk Drive and to a lesser degree number 22 Pinewalk Drive, 
however loss of views cannot be considered as material planning consideration.   
 
 The proposal includes 1no. first floor side elevation bedroom window due to 
necessary internal alterations within the existing house because of the proposed 
extension.  The window would directly face the rear elevation of the adjacent number 
21 Pinewalk Drive.  The plans indicate this window would be a high-level opaque 
glazed opening which is considered to sufficiently reduce the overlooking and potential 
light spill impact.  The proposed en-suite window would be within the principal 
elevation and does not serve a habitable room. It is therefore considered the level of 
light spill would not be at an unacceptable level.  The rear bedroom window would also 
not increase the level of mutual overlooking already seen within the vicinity of the area.  
Comments have been received relating to the placement of the ground floor rear door.  
On this occasion, due to the existing boundary treatments the door placement is not 
considered to impinge significantly on the amenity of number 19 Pinewalk Drive. 
 
Subsequently, when considering the impact of the extension and associated internal 
modifications necessary in respect of neighbour amenity, the proposal, on balance, is 
considered acceptable and compliant with Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan and the Council’s SPG on householder development. 
 
Impact on the character and appearance of the area 

Tudalen 69



 
Public comments have been received on the basis of the proposal being inconsistent 
with the character and appearance of the area which they comment are all issues 
contrary to the Council’s householder design guide SPG.  Whilst it is acknowledged a 
flat roof extension is not a preferred roof type, this design is typical for extensions in 
this area and with the extension predominantly located to the rear, it would only be 
partially visible from the principal elevation.  Although visible from neighbouring 
properties, the extension would be subservient to the host dwelling, would have 
materials to match the existing and overall is not considered to dominate the overall 
façade of the plot.  
 
Therefore, whilst there will undoubtably be an impact upon the character and 
appearance of the existing dwelling/site and the surrounding street scene, it is not 
considered any impact would be significant enough to warrant a refusal on visual 
grounds.  
 
Other Matters 
 
Reduction in house price 
 
Comments were received concerning the potential impact upon house values.  Whilst 
these are noted, they do not form a material planning consideration.  
 
Instability of the land 
 
The plot of land has been previously developed and is within the curtilage of a dwelling. 
No further engineering works are required, beyond that associated with the extension, 
and any previous land issues cannot be considered as a material planning 
consideration of this application.  
 
Alternate Designs 
 
Comments were received suggesting alternate designs for the application.  Whilst this 
is noted the role of the Local Planning Authority is to assess the plans that have been 
received, which in this case are considered acceptable (as set out above). 
 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Liability 
 
The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced in Rhondda Cynon Taf from 
31 December 2014. 
 
The application is for development of a kind that is not CIL liable under the CIL 
Regulations 2010 (as amended). 
 
Conclusion 
 
The extension and associated works are considered to comply with the relevant 
policies of the Local Development Plan in respect of the impact they would have upon 
the character and appearance of the application property and surrounding area and 
upon the amenity and privacy of existing neighbouring properties.  

Tudalen 70



 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT, SUBJECTO TO CONDITIONS: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 

five years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason:  To comply with Sections 91 and 93 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the approved plans and documents unless otherwise to be approved and 
superseded by details required by any other condition attached to this 
consent: 
 

• Application form 
• Proposed Ground Floor Plan Sheet 7 of 13 Rev A  
• Proposed First Floor Plan Sheet 8.1 of 13 Rev A  
• Proposed Rear Garden Elevation Sheet 9 of 13 Rev B  
• Proposed Driveway Elevation Sheet 10 .1of 13 Rev D  
• Front Elevation Sheet 11.1 of 13 Rev B 

 
Reason:  To ensure compliance with the approved plans and documents and 
to clearly define the scope of the permission. 
 

 
 

Tudalen 71



tudalen wag



PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 
 

21 MARCH 2024 
 

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS, PERTAINING TO ACTION TAKEN 
 

UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 
 

REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT   
 
 
1. PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 
 

To inform Members of the following, for the period 26/02/2024 –
08/03/2024 
 
Planning Appeals Decisions Received. 
Delegated Decisions Approvals and Refusals with reasons. 
 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That Members note the information. 
 
 

 
 

Tudalen 73

Agendwm 9



 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 

 
as amended by 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985 

 
RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 

 
21 MARCH 2024 

 
REPORT OF: DIRECTOR PROSPERITY AND DEVELOPMENT   
 
REPORT      OFFICER TO CONTACT 
 
INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS,                      Mr. J. Bailey 
PERTAINING TO ACTION TAKEN                    (Tel: 01443 281132) 
UNDER DELEGATED POWERS 
 
 
 
 
 
See Relevant Application File 

Tudalen 74



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

No new appeals 
No appeal decisions 

 

Tudalen 75



tudalen wag



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

26/02/2024 and 08/03/2024

Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Aberaman

22/1440/16 27/02/2024

Proposal:
Approval of Reserved Matters Pusuant to Planning Permission ref. 21/1388/13 (Construction of one dwelling) 
(Amended Proposed Site Layout Plan and Site Sections Rec. 06/02/24)

Location: PLOT 1, RIVERSIDE, FARM ROAD, ABERAMAN, ABERDARE, CF44 6LJ

Decision Date:

22/1441/16 27/02/2024

Proposal:
Approval of Reserved Matters Pusuant to Planning Permission ref. 21/1388/13 (Construction of one dwelling) 
(Amended Proposed Site Layout Plan and Site Sections Rec. 06/02/24)

Location: PLOT 4, RIVERSIDE,  FARM ROAD, ABERAMAN, ABERDARE

Decision Date:

24/0084/01 04/03/2024

Proposal:
Aldi entrance sign, opening times, promotional image, 2 no. wall hanging signs of the Aldi Logo, 2 no. retail 
park signage of the Aldi logo, Totem pole sign showing the Aldi logo and opening times of What! Store in the 

Location: ALDI STORES LTD, UNIT 1A, ABERAMAN PARK INDUSTRIAL ESTATE, ABERAMAN, ABERDARE, 
CF44 6DA

Decision Date:

Abercynon

23/1433/15 28/02/2024

Proposal:
Variation of condition 2 (approved plans) of previously approved planning application 23/1163/10 to increase 
the number of bedrooms within self-contained flat B from 1 to 3 utilising floor area of rear annexe.

Location: TYNTE HOTEL PUBLIC HOUSE, MAIN ROAD, TYNTETOWN, ABERCYNON, MOUNTAIN ASH, CF45 
4YH

Decision Date:

Aberdare West and Llwydcoed

23/1069/16 29/02/2024

Proposal:
Application for reserved matters approval (appearance, landscaping, layout, access and scale)  and discharge 
of conditions 3 (Tree Protection), 5 (Boundary Treatment Plan), 6 (Materials), 11 (Construction Method 

Location: THE OLD SCHOOL, MERTHYR ROAD, LLWYDCOED, ABERDARE, CF44 0UT

Decision Date:

Brynna and Llanharan

23/1012/10 05/03/2024

Proposal:
Single storey rear extension, demolish conservatory

Location: 18 WESTBOURNE TERRACE, LLANHARAN, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9RW

Decision Date:

24/0001/10 27/02/2024

Proposal:
Partial change of use of the ground floor of the High Corner Hotel, currently A3 (pubs) & C1 (Hotels) to part A1 
(Shops)

Location: THE HIGH CORNER HOTEL, THE SQUARE, LLANHARAN, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9NR

Decision Date:

24/0019/15 04/03/2024

Proposal:
Variation of condition 2 -  alternative arrangements for rear elevation fenestration and inclusion of concealed 
balcony area with cantilevered roof over. Dispense with attic conversion (21/1049)

Location: MELVYN WINE CELLARS, REGENT STREET, TREORCHY

Decision Date:

Cilfynydd

Tudalen 77



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

26/02/2024 and 08/03/2024

Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

22/0939/10 07/03/2024

Proposal:
Demolition of existing barns and construction of new dwelling in their place (Barsn B & C) (amended plans, 
application forms and description received 14/12/23, 19/01/24, 26/01/24).

Location: BODWENARTH FARM, ALBION COURT, CILFYNYDD, PONTYPRIDD, CF37 4JA

Decision Date:

23/1377/10 07/03/2024

Proposal:
Demolition of existing barn and construction of new dwelling in its place (Barn A).

Location: BODWENARTH FARM BARNS, ALBION COURT, CILFYNYDD, PONTYPRIDD

Decision Date:

Cwm Clydach

23/0230/10 07/03/2024

Proposal:
Detached bungalow

Location: PLOT 1, LAND TO THE NORTH OF SUNNY BANK, CLYDACH, TONYPANDY

Decision Date:

Gilfach-goch

24/0021/10 28/02/2024

Proposal:
Proposed first floor rear extension above an existing single storey extension

Location: 65 HIGH STREET, GILFACH-GOCH, PORTH, CF39 8SR

Decision Date:

Pen-y-graig

23/1267/13 01/03/2024

Proposal:
Outline Consent for 3 no. detached houses.

Location: LAND ADJ TO PEN Y DRE, KERSLAKE TERRACE, PEN-Y-GRAIG, TONYPANDY

Decision Date:

24/0029/10 29/02/2024

Proposal:
Detached garage

Location: 70 HENDRECAFN ROAD, PEN-Y-GRAIG, TONYPANDY, CF40 1LW

Decision Date:

Pontyclun Central

23/0854/10 01/03/2024

Proposal:
Detached three bedroom dwelling.(Coal Mining Risk Assessment received 15/09/23)(Site/highway plan 
received 17/01/24)

Location:  RAILWAY TERRACE, TALBOT GREEN

Decision Date:

Pontyclun West

24/0061/10 06/03/2024

Proposal:
Erection of Storage Container

Location: IVOR PARK FOOTBALL PITCH, COWBRIDGE ROAD, BRYNSADLER, PONT-Y-CLUN

Decision Date:

Tudalen 78



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

26/02/2024 and 08/03/2024

Development Control : Delegated Decisions (Permissions) between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Taff's Well

24/0007/15 29/02/2024

Proposal:
Variation of condition 5 (opening hours) of previously approved planning application 23/0949/10 to alter the 
operating hours of the proposed D1 and D2 use to between 06:00 - 21:00 daily.

Location: 7 CARDIFF ROAD, TAFF'S WELL, CARDIFF, CF15 7RA

Decision Date:

Treorchy

23/1442/23 01/03/2024

Proposal:
Prior Approval under Part 11A of the GDPO for proposed alterations to the Grade II listed Tyla Coch 
footbridge.

Location: TYLACOCH FOOTBRIDGE,  TREORCHY

Decision Date:

Tylorstown and Ynyshir

24/0015/10 29/02/2024

Proposal:
Temporary Rural Enterprise Dwelling

Location: TY MYNYDD FARM, CEFN-LLECHAU ROAD, STANLEYTOWN, FERNDALE, CF43 3EY

Decision Date:

Ynysybwl

23/1404/15 01/03/2024

Proposal:
Extend the time consent of condition 1 by a further 5 years of previous planning permission 18/0905/13

Location: LAND WEST OF HIGH STREET, YNYS-Y-BWL, PONTYPRIDD

Decision Date:

Ystrad

23/0346/10 29/02/2024

Proposal:
Change of use from commercial to residential.

Location: A ONE CLEANERS, 55 GELLI ROAD, GELLI, PENTRE, CF41 7LY

Decision Date:

Total Number of Delegated decisions is 21

Tudalen 79



tudalen wag



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

26/02/2024 and 08/03/2024Development Control : Delegated Decisions - Refusals between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Aberdare East

23/1413/10 28/02/2024

Proposal: Conversion of the ground floor area (rear) to include an additional apartment

Location: NEW LOOK, 58 CARDIFF STREET, ABERDARE, CF44 7DG

Decision Date:

Reason: The proposed development is considered to be contrary to Policy AW5 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local 
Development Plan and the Council's Supplementary Planning Guidance: Development of Flats – 
Conversion and New Build as the habitable rooms within the flat would not benefit from a reasonable 
outlook

1

Brynna and Llanharan

24/0004/10 07/03/2024

Proposal: Change of use of land south of 1 Parc Bryn, CF72 9TT to garden curtilage, 1.8m high fence, construction 
of greenhouse

Location: 1 PARC BRYN DERWEN, LLANHARAN, PONTYCLUN, CF72 9TT

Decision Date:

Reason: The proposed change of use, to form a residential extension of garden curtilage and construction of garden 
building in a green wedge is considered inappropriate and does not have sufficient justification to encroach 
onto the green wedge, would prejudice the openness of the landscape and result in incremental loss of 
green space contrary to Policy AW5 and Policy SSA22 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan 
and the Rhondda Cynon Taf Green Wedge Topic Paper 2008.

Additionally, the proposed development would result in an unbalanced settlement boundary and provide the 
residential dwelling with a significantly larger curtilage than the surrounding street-scene significantly 
altering the character and appearance contrary to Policy AW5 and AW6 of the Rhondda Cynon Tad Local 
Development Plan.

1

Reason: There is insufficient information to appropriately assess the ecological impacts of the development which is 
contrary to policy AW8 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

2

Tudalen 81



RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

26/02/2024 and 08/03/2024Development Control : Delegated Decisions - Refusals between:

Report for Development Control Planning Committee

Trealaw

24/0063/10 07/03/2024

Proposal: Proposed two storey extension, garage and terrace access to garden.

Location: IVY COTTAGE, STATION ROAD, TREALAW, TONYPANDY, CF40 2PL

Decision Date:

Reason: By virtue of its scale, design and resulting mass, the proposed roof terrace access would form a dominant 
and unsympathetic addition to the host property, significantly detracting from its existing traditional, 
attractive character and appearance. As such, the proposal would be contrary to Policies AW5 and AW6 of 
the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan.

1

Ynysybwl

23/1320/13 05/03/2024

Proposal: Demolition of 3 garages and construction of a dwelling house with off street parking and garden (Outline).

Location: LAND ADJ TO 91 NEW ROAD, YNYSYBWL, PONTYPRIDD

Decision Date:

Reason: The proposed development, by virtue of its scale, would represent an overdevelopment of the site and 
would fail to provide adequate levels of outdoor amenity space and would not meet the living standards of 
future occupants. The proposal is considered contrary to policies AW5 and AW6 of the Rhondda Cynon Taf 
Local Development Plan and contrary to the Council's Design and Placemaking Supplementary Planning 
Guidance.

1

Reason: The proposed development, by virtue of its scale and massing would constitute an unsympathetic 
development and overdevelopment of the site which would appear incongruent within the streetscene and 
harm the character of the site. The development is therefore considered contrary to Policies AW5 and AW6 
of the Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Development Plan, and contrary to the Council's Design and Placemaking 
Supplementary Planning Guidance

2

Total Number of Delegated decisions is 4

Tudalen 82


	Agenda
	GWŶS I GYFARFOD PWYLLGOR

	4 COFNODION
	5 CAIS RHIF:
	6 CAIS RHIF: 23/1294
	7 CAIS RHIF: 23/1444
	8 CAIS RHIF: 24/0017
	9 GWYBODAETH I AELODAU SY'N YMWNEUD Â'R CAMAU GWEITHREDU WEDI'U CYMRYD O DAN BWERAU DIRPRWYEDIG
	1.	PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	2.	RECOMMENDATION
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
	RHONDDA CYNON TAF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
	LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS
	Atodiad 1
	Atodiad 2
	Atodiad 3


